

## **Walden University ScholarWorks**

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies

Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection

2022

# Leadership Strategies for Sustainability of Small and Medium **Enterprises in Swaziland**

LIZZY OLUWATOYIN TAIWO Walden University

Follow this and additional works at: https://scholarworks.waldenu.edu/dissertations

Part of the Entrepreneurial and Small Business Operations Commons, and the Sustainability

Commons

This Dissertation is brought to you for free and open access by the Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies Collection at ScholarWorks. It has been accepted for inclusion in Walden Dissertations and Doctoral Studies by an authorized administrator of ScholarWorks. For more information, please contact ScholarWorks@waldenu.edu.

## Walden University

College of Management and Technology

This is to certify that the doctoral study by

Lizzy Taiwo

has been found to be complete and satisfactory in all respects, and that any and all revisions required by the review committee have been made.

#### **Review Committee**

Dr. Gregory Uche, Committee Chairperson, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Michael Campo, Committee Member, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Dr. Yvette Ghormley, University Reviewer, Doctor of Business Administration Faculty

Chief Academic Officer and Provost Sue Subocz, Ph.D.

Walden University 2022

#### **Abstract**

# Leadership Strategies for Sustainability of Small and Medium Enterprises in Swaziland

by

Lizzy Taiwo

MA, University of Cumbria, 2016

BA, University of South Africa, 2010

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2022

#### Abstract

Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) play an essential role in national and global economic growth. Lack of leadership strategies can negatively impact the sustainability and growth of SMEs. Business owners who implement appropriate leadership strategies can ensure the sustainability of their SMEs. Grounded in transformational leadership theory and sustainability development theory, the purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore leadership strategies owners of SMEs use to ensure the sustainability of their organizations. The participants were four owners of SMEs within the four regions in Swaziland who successfully used leadership strategies to enhance the sustainability of their organizations. Data were collected using semistructured interviews, company archival documents, and notes. Thematic analysis yielded four themes: employee engagement and quality of service, listening and communication, performance review and reward system, and leadership style. A key recommendation is for SME owners to conduct annual performance reviews of their employees and generate an effective reward system to enhance business sustainability. The implications for positive social change include the potential to create job opportunities, provide social amenities and welfare, and support the economic development of regional communities.

# Leadership Strategies for Sustainability of Small and Medium Enterprises

in Swaziland

by

Lizzy Taiwo

MA, University of Cumbria, 2016

BA, University of South Africa, 2010

Doctoral Study Submitted in Partial Fulfillment
of the Requirements for the Degree of
Doctor of Business Administration

Walden University

March 2022

### Dedication

I dedicate this doctoral study to my children, Abigail, Henry, and Nathan, and my parents, to whom I am appreciative for their prayers, love, encouragement, and support during my doctoral journey.

#### Acknowledgments

First, I thank God for His unfailing love and divine protection through this doctoral journey. He gave me the strength and courage to persevere along and to the end; I could not have made it without Him. My special thanks goes to my children and my parents, who encouraged me daily and assumed some of my responsibilities to ensure I dedicated more time to my studies. To my parents, Festus and Elizabeth Ogunode, I say thanks for instilling in me, from early childhood, the importance of learning and perseverance.

My sincere appreciation also goes to my personal assistant, Olabanji Olaniran, for representing me in several official duties to give me more time for my studies. I acknowledge my chair, Dr. Greg Uche, whose expertise and step-by-step mentoring contributed to the successful completion of this doctoral study. My appreciation also goes to my second committee member, Dr. Mike Campo, and my University Research Reviewer, Dr. Yvette Ghormley, for their constructive feedback and timely response. Thanks to the owners of SMEs who took off time out of their busy schedules to participate in this study.

### Table of Contents

List of Tables	V
Section 1: Foundation of the Study	1
Background of the Problem	1
Problem Statement	2
Purpose Statement	3
Nature of the Study	3
Research Question	5
Interview Questions	5
Conceptual Framework	6
Definition of Terms	7
Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations	8
Assumptions	8
Limitations	9
Delimitations	9
Significance of the Study	10
Contribution to Business Practice	10
Implications for Social Change	10
A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature	11
Transformational Leadership Theory	14
Sustainability Development Theory	18

Related and Contrasting Theories to Transformational Leadership Theory	
and Sustainability Development Theory	21
Leadership Strategies in Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises	25
Business Sustainability	31
Sustainability in Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises	35
Performance and Sustainability of Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises	38
Organizational Structure and Tactical Business Plans	40
Nature and Significance of Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises in	
Swaziland	42
Transition and Summary	44
Section 2: The Project	46
Purpose Statement	46
Role of the Researcher	46
Participants	49
Research Method and Design	51
Method	51
Research Design	53
Population and Sampling	56
Ethical Research	59
Data Collection	61
Instruments	61
Data Collection Technique	64

	Data Organization Techniques	65
D	ata Analysis Technique	66
Re	eliability and Validity	68
	Reliability	68
	Validity	70
Tı	ansition and Summary	72
Section	on 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change	73
O	verview of Study	73
Pr	resentation of the Findings	74
	Theme 1: Employee Engagement and Quality of Service	76
	Theme 2: Listening and Communication	79
	Theme 3: Performance Review and Reward System	. 81
	Theme 4: Leadership Style	83
	Findings Related to Transformational Leadership Theory and Sustainable	
	Development Theory	85
$A_{]}$	pplications to Professional Practice	88
In	nplications for Social Change	90
Re	ecommendations for Action	92
Re	ecommendations for Further Study	94
Re	eflections	95
Sı	ummary and Study Conclusions	97
Dafar	onacc	00

Appendix A: Letter of Invitation	134
Appendix B: Interview Protocol	135
Appendix C: Interview Questions	136
Appendix D: CITI Certification	137

## List of Tables

Table 1. Summary of Literature Review Sources of Resources	13
Table 2. Leadership Strategies That Owners of Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises	
Use to Ensure the Sustainability of Their Organizations $(N = 4)$	75

#### Section 1: Foundation of the Study

Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) operate in the same dynamic environment as larger organizations; hence, SMEs require business leaders with appropriate leadership strategies to enhance performance, growth, and sustainability. SMEs now operate in a dynamic market with advancements in technology, business competition, dynamic customer needs, and globalization (Buli, 2017). Owners of SMEs need to adopt appropriate leadership strategies to survive in the global market through enhanced business sustainability.

#### **Background of the Problem**

SMEs play a significant role in national economic growth and environmental and societal sustainability for developed and developing nations. Most governments are now paying more attention to SMEs' growth, development, and sustainability (Johnson & Schaltegger, 2016). The failure rate of SMEs has continuously increased due to such factors as lack of enabling environment, inappropriate leadership and management skills, and financial factors (Eikelenboom & de Jong, 2019; Olawale & Garwe, 2015). Some business owners' lack of appropriate leadership strategies could affect the sustainability and growth of SMEs, resulting in a negative impact on job creation, income generation, and poverty reduction in emerging economies such as Swaziland (Madanchian & Taherdoost, 2017; Howard et.al., 2019). Furthermore, about 80% of SMEs collapse in the first 2 years after establishment, thereby adding to the unemployment rate of 28.0% in Swaziland (Dziedzic, 2019). It is paramount for business leaders in Swaziland to possess appropriate leadership strategies to minimize the failure rate of SMEs (Muriithi, 2017).

Due to the increasing failure rates of SMEs, business practitioners and the government should provide training for business leaders on appropriate leadership skills to improve SMEs' growth and sustainability (Katarzyna & Joanna, 2016). Leaders of SMEs play a crucial role in the growth and sustainability of their organizations. Most employees and stakeholders of SMEs support the organizations' procedures, practices, and processes that improve productivity and performance through transformative leadership and influencing skills (Kusi et al., 2015). By implementing appropriate leadership strategies, SME business owners could contribute to sustainability, which may lead to job creation, improvement in employment rates, improved living conditions, social infrastructure development, and social well-being of the populace in the communities (Martinez-Conesa et al., 2017).

#### **Problem Statement**

Lack of appropriate leadership strategies by some business owners of SMEs affects SMEs' sustainability and growth, which could negatively impact job creation, income generation, and poverty reduction in emerging economies such as Swaziland (Madanchian & Taherdoost, 2017; Howard et.al., 2019). As Muriithi (2017, p. 40) discussed, about 70% of SMEs collapse in their first year of establishment in Africa, contributing to an increase in the unemployment rate such as that experienced in Swaziland. The general business problem was the lack of appropriate leadership strategies by some business owners, which affects the sustainability of SMEs in Swaziland. The specific business problem was that some business owners in Swaziland lack leadership strategies to ensure the sustainability of their SMEs.

#### **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive case study was to explore the leadership strategies that some small business owners use to ensure the sustainability of their organizations in Swaziland. The target population consisted of four small business owners within the four regions of Swaziland who had successful businesses beyond 5 years of business commencement. The implications for social change include SMEs' sustainability and the potential to create more job opportunities to improve the populace's living conditions and social well-being in the business communities and Swaziland as a nation.

#### **Nature of the Study**

A researcher may select from the following research methods: qualitative, quantitative, or mixed (Saunders et al., 2015). A researcher's choice is dependent on the most applicable research method that aligns with the purpose of the study (Yin, 2016). I used the qualitative research method for this study. Researchers use the qualitative method to explore why and how people cope in real-world settings (Klenke, 2016). I used the qualitative method to generate nonnumeric data about business owners' leadership strategies and organizations' sustainability. As indicated by Yin (2018), researchers use the quantitative method to examine or explain the relationships among variables using statistical, mathematical, or computational techniques regarding a phenomenon of interest. The quantitative research method was not appropriate for this study because the focus was not examining the relationships among variables. As opined by Palinkas et al. (2015), the mixed method combines qualitative and quantitative methods that involve

examinations of variables and analyzing empirical data. The mixed method was also not appropriate for this study because the purpose of this study was not to examine relationships among variables or analyze empirical data.

The principal qualitative research designs include case study, phenomenological, ethnographic, and narrative (Kim et al., 2017). For this study, I used multiple case study as the research design to gain in-depth knowledge about the study from various cases. In conducting a case study, qualitative researchers use open-ended questions in semistructured interviews to gather information that answers *how*, *why*, or *what* questions about a phenomenon or situation and identify patterns (Bengtsson, 2016). Researchers use the phenomenological design to understand the universal nature of the personal meanings of participants' life experiences, which was not the focus of this study. As discussed by Kim et al. (2017), researchers use the narrative design to obtain information from individuals' personal stories, leading to contextualized, historical accounts, which was not the focus of my study.

Researchers use ethnographic designs to identify and explain the significance of a shared pattern, beliefs, culture, and behavior of individuals and groups of people (Bengtsson, 2016). The ethnographic design was not used for this study because my intent was not to identify a group of people's shared beliefs, culture, and behavior. I used a multiple case study design for this study versus a single case study because addressing the purpose of this study required comprehensive data collection from different cases. By comparing data among cases, it was possible to gain a better understanding of relevant

perspectives, leading to an accurate understanding of the various leadership strategies that business owners use to enhance SMEs' sustainability in Swaziland.

#### **Research Question**

What leadership strategies do small business owners use to ensure the sustainability of SMEs in Swaziland?

#### **Interview Questions**

- 1. What specific leadership strategies are you using to manage your organization?
- 2. How do you implement these strategies?
- 3. How did you assess the effectiveness of these strategies?
- 4. Which of these leadership strategies has been the most effective in the sustainability of your business?
- 5. What were the key challenges you faced as a business leader while implementing these leadership strategies?
- 6. How did you overcome these key challenges?
- 7. What other business strategies do you use to sustain your business services and products?
- 8. What strategies do you use to motivate employees to achieve organizational goals?
- 9. What other information would you like to share about your leadership strategies that, based upon your experience, have influenced the sustainability of your business?

#### **Conceptual Framework**

The transformational leadership theory developed by Burns in 1978 and the sustainability development theory proposed by Brundtland in 1987 constituted the composite conceptual framework for this study. Burns (1978) developed the transformational leadership theory on the construct of a leader's behavior and its influence on employees, performance, and organizational sustainability. The fundamental tenets of the transformational leadership theory are the ability of a transformational leader to use idealized behavior, intellectual stimulation, individualized consideration, and inspirational motivation to lead followers toward the attainment of enhanced performance and sustainable organization (Katarzyna & Joanna, 2016).

The sustainability development theory has three principal constructs: economy, society, and the environment. Business leaders use the sustainability development theory principal constructs as foundational principles to guide their business activities to meet economic value while protecting the environment and adding positive social impact to society (Williams et al., 2017). Firms also use the sustainability development theory as a model to describe, analyze, manage, and communicate a firm's sustainable value proposition through its business activities to stakeholders (Clayton & Radcliffe, 2018). Many organizations use the sustainability development theory principal constructs to foster best business practices to capture and increase economic value while also delivering a positive environmental and social impact to stakeholders and society (Clayton & Radcliffe, 2018).

The transformational leadership theory enables researchers to explore the leadership strategies that business owners use to lead and direct their organizational growth through self-awareness, idealized behavior, and inspirational motivation for business sustainable development initiatives and practices (Burns, 1978; Northouse, 2016). Researchers use the sustainability development theory to analyze how business leaders can make informed business decisions, reduce uncertainty, improve marketplace practices, and address specific business goals for improving business financial performance, with positive environmental and societal benefits (Langwell & Heaton, 2016; Suriyankietkaew & Avery, 2016). In summary, the transformational leadership theory and the sustainability development theory were the appropriate conceptual framework for this study because both models align with leadership strategies for SMEs' sustainability.

#### **Definition of Terms**

*Business innovativeness:* The creative process to introduce new ideas, workflows, procedures, processes, methodologies, and practices to improve on existing products or services for higher performance and sustainable competitive edge in the organization (Ceptureanu & Ceptureanu, 2019).

Business sustainability: The management and coordination of business activities to meet economic value while protecting the environment and positively impacting society. It is how organizations satisfy the current generation's economic needs without compromising future generations' social well-being and environmental protection while carrying out their business activities (Parida & Wincent, 2019).

Leadership strategies: Refers to the disciplined strategic effort, procedures, methods, and practice used by leaders to manage and influence organizational members and their activities for enhanced performance, growth, and overall success (Atan et al., 2019).

Small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs): Formally registered organizations with 250-500 employees in developed economies, 100 or fewer employees in developing economies, and 50 or fewer employees in underdeveloped economies (Dziedzic, 2019).

Small business owner: A person with the sole responsibility to create, organize, and manage a business as the major shareholder or sole owner of the organization (Bimha et al., 2018).

Stakeholders' engagement: Refers to the approach of business management practices that supports systematic, continuous improvement through the engagement of the organization's various stakeholders in decision making to meet customers' needs and improve efficiency (Burawat, 2019).

#### **Assumptions, Limitations, and Delimitations**

#### **Assumptions**

Assumptions are integral to research but are not within a researcher's control (Bryman, 2016; Marshall & Rossman, 2016). One of the assumptions of this study was that the responses from the participants would be correct and a truthful representation of the real-life experiences of respondents on leadership strategies and practices that they used for business sustainability. Another assumption was that the sampled population for this study would be capable of self-expression and could provide appropriate responses to

the interview questions. Furthermore, I assumed that the use of multiple case study as the study's research design was appropriate for exploring the various leadership strategies that business leaders use for SMEs' sustainability. Finally, I assumed that the sample was an appropriate representation of SMEs in the four geographical regions of Swaziland.

#### Limitations

The limitations of a study are the features of a study, such as design and methodology, which a researcher has no control over and may affect the interpretation of study results (O'Leary, 2014; Yin, 2018). This study had four limitations. First, I selected only four SMEs for this study; therefore, the findings might not be generalizable to the larger Swaziland SME population. Second, participants' inaccurate recall of their experiences or lack of comfort in disclosing information about their business operations might have affected the accuracy of the findings of this study. Third, the background of the SME owner-managers interviewed in the study might not represent the Swaziland SME population, especially in age, gender, educational attainment, experience, and entrepreneurial orientation. The fourth limitation of the study was that the interviewees might, for various reasons such as confidentiality, trustworthiness, and security, have been restrictive in volunteering answers to the interview questions. To mitigate these limitations, I collected information from multiple sources, including but not limited to annual reports, document reviews, and my reflections, to ensure triangulation.

#### **Delimitations**

As part of the investigation of a phenomenon, researchers need to acknowledge delimitations in a study. Delimitations are the parameters and factors that the researcher

uses to define the boundaries of a study and limit the scope of the study (Ellis & Levy, 2009; Merriam & Tisdell, 2016). The first delimitation of this study was no assessment of the impact of any specific leadership strategies or style on the performance of SMEs' sustainability in Swaziland. Instead, the result within the scope of this study would expose the leadership experiences of SME owner-managers concerning their enterprise performance and sustainability. Another delimitation of this study was that all study participants were from Swaziland; therefore, findings from the study might not apply to SMEs in other countries.

#### Significance of the Study

#### **Contribution to Business Practice**

This study's findings might be significant to business practice because SME owners in Swaziland could benefit from better knowledge and understanding of leadership strategies and practices needed for improved productivity, performance, and overall sustainability of their businesses. This study could also assist business owners in gaining an in-depth understanding of transformative leadership strategies' role in business sustainability that considers the economic, social, and environmental impact in society. Furthermore, SME owners in Swaziland could use the results from this study to understand the role of inappropriate leadership strategy in the high failure rate of SMEs' survival beyond 2 years of establishment to improve business practices.

#### **Implications for Social Change**

The implications for positive social change arising from this study include promoting the growth and sustainability of SMEs, leading to job creation and income

generation for economic growth in society. As opined by Martinez-Conesa et al. (2017), improvement in the employment rate through the sustainability of SMEs may aid in meeting the corporate social responsibilities of SMEs in their communities. The application of the study findings could promote the sustainability of SMEs, resulting in improved living conditions, social infrastructure development, and the social well-being of the populace. The implication for a positive social change might arise from this study through broadening SMEs' sustainability knowledge.

#### A Review of the Professional and Academic Literature

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive case study was to explore the leadership strategies that some small business owners use to ensure the sustainability of their business in Swaziland. Lack of appropriate leadership strategies by some business owners of SMEs affects business sustainability and growth, resulting in a negative impact on job creation, income generation, and poverty reduction in emerging economies such as Swaziland (Madanchian & Taherdoost, 2017). Understanding the implications of leadership strategies for SMEs' sustainability has become increasingly important due to SMEs' fundamental economic roles in employment creation, poverty alleviation, and entrepreneurial development in emerging economies (Muriithi, 2017). The findings from this study could benefit owners of SMEs in Swaziland by offering them better knowledge and understanding of leadership strategies and practices needed for improved productivity, performance, and overall sustainability of their businesses. Business owners could also use this study's results to gain an in-depth understanding of transformative

leadership strategies in business sustainability that considers society's economic, social, and environmental impact.

The literature review for this study included an extensive examination of professional and academic resources to answer the research question of this study: What leadership strategies do small business owners use to ensure SMEs' sustainability in Swaziland? I explored various professional and academic articles, peer-reviewed journals, and scholarly publications related to leadership strategies, business sustainability, and SMEs, which were the main themes for this study. I began the literature review with a critical analysis of the study's conceptual frameworks, transformational leadership theory and sustainability development theory, and I discussed related and contrasting theories. Also incorporated into the literature review is an extensive analysis of various leadership strategies that business owners can use for SMEs' sustainability. The concluding aspect of the literature review is an extensive exploration and analysis of SMEs and SMEs in Swaziland.

For this literature review, I used academic and professional sources such as Walden University Library and electronic dissertation database, Business Source Premier, ProQuest, ABI/INFORM, EBSCOhost, Science Direct, and Sage Publications. My search keywords included *leadership strategies*, *transformational leadership style*, *transaction leadership style*, *business sustainability*, *SMEs' productivity*, *SMEs' performance*, *SMEs' failure*, *SMEs' sustainability*, *SMEs' leadership*, and *business operating environment*. The literature review sources were 140 references consisting of 119 peer-reviewed journals, three non-peer-reviewed journals, four books, and four

government or corporate sites (see Table1). A total of 93% of the sources used for this literature review were published within 5 years of the expected approval date of my doctoral research study.

**Table 1**Summary of Literature Review Sources of Resources

Reference type	< 5 years	> 5 years	Total
Peer-reviewed journals	119	10	129
Non-peer reviewed journals	3	0	3
Books	4	0	4
Government or corporate sites	4	0	4
Total	130	10	140

The literature review begins with a discussion of the conceptual frameworks and related and contrasting theories. The topics discussed in the literature review include (a) transformational leadership theory and sustainability development theory; (b) related and contrasting theories—transactional leadership theory and entrepreneurial theory; (c) business leadership strategies; (d) business sustainability in the context of SMEs; (e) the nature and significance of SMEs in Swaziland; (f) SMEs' productivity, performance, and failures; and (g) SMEs' leadership and business operating environment. I used transformational leadership theory and sustainability development theory as the conceptual framework for this study to analyze and explain various researchers' perspectives on leadership strategies for SMEs' sustainability. The literature review section ends with a summary of the findings and a conclusion.

#### **Transformational Leadership Theory**

Exploring the various leadership strategies that SMEs in Swaziland use to enhance business sustainability requires establishing a framework to understand leadership strategies and styles, business sustainability, employee performance, and their relationship to organizational sustainability. Transformational leadership theory (TLT) and sustainable development theory (SDT) were the frameworks for this study. TLT provided the lens to explore the leadership strategies that business owners use to lead and direct their organizations effectively and efficiently. In contrast, SDT provided the lens to analyze how business leaders make informed business decisions, improve business practices, improve marketplace practices, and address specific business goals to improve business financial performance, with positive economic, environmental, and societal benefits.

Understanding of the historical development of leadership theories, such as the transformational and transactional leadership model, provides practitioners and scholars with adequate knowledge about leadership practice in SMEs (Mehrabani & Mohamad, 2015). Burns (1978) developed TLT on the construct of a leader's behavior and its influence on employees, performance, and organizational sustainability. The key tenets of TLT involve a transformational leader's ability to use idealized behavior, intellectual stimulation, individualized consideration, and inspirational motivation to lead followers toward the attainment of enhanced performance and sustainable organization (Katarzyna & Joanna, 2016).

Bass (1978) introduced TLT while researching political elites and behavioral attributes exhibited by transforming leaders in their relationship with subordinates. Bass (1999) extended the development of TLT by explaining that transforming leaders are individuals who demonstrate integrity and fairness and positively influence subordinates to motivate them for higher performance in an organization (Faupel & Süß, 2019).

Transformational leaders use idealized influence, inspirational motivation, individualized considerations, and intellectual stimulation to drive followers' performance in the organization (Bass & Avolio, 1994). A transformational leader uses intellectual stimulation to initiate creative potentials among followers. In contrast, the transformational leader uses inspirational motivation and individualized considerations to mentor followers from personalized perspectives toward attaining organizational objectives (Howard et al., 2019).

Transformational leaders work hand in hand with their team members to identify changes needed to effectively improve their overall performance through guidance, collaboration, and motivation (Northouse, 2016). Transformational leaders are participative leaders involved in creating an organization's vision and collaborating with followers to carefully execute the organization's vision (Li et al., 2016). Transformational leaders exhibit other leadership characteristics such as adaptability, entertaining new ideas, and being willing to make sacrifices for the excellent course of the followers and the promotion of the organization (Oladele & Akeke, 2016). Transformational leaders can also use idealized influence, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration to enhance innovation performance and organizational support in SMEs (Tajasom et al.,

2015). The TLT is an ideal approach for exploring the leadership strategies that small business owners use to ensure the sustainability of their businesses in Swaziland.

Transformational leaders motivate their followers to generate optimal performance, guide them when needed, and allow autonomy (Khalili, 2016).

Transformational leaders can psychologically empower employees to increase their commitment level and thus reduce employee turnover intentions (Mittal, 2016). The impact of the four tenets of transformational leadership on organizational performance may vary without significant high-performance management practices such as stakeholders' engagement, compensation, and job design (López-Pérez et al., 2018). Through the use and integration of the various characteristics and attributes of a transformational leadership style and strategies, business leaders of SMEs can improve their employees' productivity and performance levels, leading to improved business growth and sustainability (Goswami et al., 2016). SME owners should adopt TLT to ensure their business growth and sustainability.

The transformational leadership style has been known to have a positive influence on employees' engagement, changing employee behavior and promoting creative thinking in SMEs (Azim et al., 2019). A transformational leadership style with appropriate management behaviors can improve employee engagement and creativity in an organization (Sulieman, 2018). Azim et al. highlighted some transformational leadership styles and management behaviors that business leaders of SMEs could use to enhance creativity and employee engagement. Actions indicative of transformational leadership styles include (a) designing a supportive organizational culture, (b) giving

employees the latitude to engage in creative activities, and (c) maintaining close relationships with employees.

The use of a transformational leadership style by owner-managed SMEs has a significant positive relationship to the success of a change management initiative in an organization (Sulieman, 2018). Business leaders could use a transformational leadership style to influence and motivate SME employees and other stakeholders to support change initiatives for an overall competitive advantage. The behaviors of a transformational leader in SMEs can improve workers' perception about change management, thus leading to a higher success rate, growth, and sustainability (Sulieman, 2018). Some factors affecting the SME business environment include technology advancement, change in government policies, consumers' changing needs, and competitors' advancement. Therefore, to overcome the ever-dynamic nature of SMEs' business environment, business leaders of SMEs should replace traditional leadership styles with transformational leadership styles to enhance their organizational performance and sustainability (Atan et al., 2019).

Leaders who create and maintain successful organizations in a dynamic business environment exhibit behaviors that inspire employees to foster competitive positioning for the organization (Ng et al., 2016). Studies have shown that SMEs characteristically have a small number of employees and that leadership style can easily permeate and influence employees and other stakeholders in the organization (Boukamcha, 2019). Business leaders should use a transformational leadership style to influence and motivate employees to support SMEs' social, environmental, and economic sustainability

(Sulaeman et al., 2019). Many researchers have demonstrated that the transformational leadership style enhances business performance, growth, and sustainability.

Consequently, I explored the various elements of transformational leadership styles as part of leadership strategies for SMEs' sustainability in Swaziland.

#### **Sustainability Development Theory**

Brundtland proposed SDT in 1987. The three principal constructs and foundational principles of SDT are economy, society, and the environment, which guide business activities in an organization to meet economic value while protecting the environment and positively impacting society (Parida & Wincent, 2019). Other theories and models incorporated in the SDT include corporate social responsibility, stakeholder theory, and green economics (Soto-Acosta et al., 2016). Owners of SMEs should understand leadership strategies to improve their business performance and sustainability.

Sustainability models in a business ensure that business activities conform to sustainable practices (Lim & Greenwood, 2017). According to Schaltegger et al. (2017), some sustainability models addressed the triple bottom line, namely, economic, environment, and society. Business leaders can use the system theory to guide their organizations' attainment of social, economic, and ecological concerns while carrying out their business activities. Corporate social responsibility assists organizations in contributing to societal concerns through economic responsibility, social responsibility, environmental responsibility, legal responsibility, and philanthropic responsibility. The stakeholders' theory guides organizational business ethics by ensuring that the interests of various stakeholders are given adequate consideration through ethical relationships,

fairness, justice, and the safeguard of their natural rights. Sustainable business models in SMEs incorporate monetary and nonmonetary relationships among stakeholders and create economic value, environmental benefit, and social impact through organizations' sustainable business practices (Johnson & Schaltegger, 2016).

Business leaders use SDT as a model to describe, analyze, manage, and communicate their firm's sustainable value proposition through its business activities to stakeholders (Clayton & Radcliffe, 2018). Most organizations use the SDT principle construct to foster best business practices to capture and increase economic value while also delivering a positive environmental and social impact to stakeholders and society (Suriyankietkaew & Avery, 2016). SDT helps in analyzing how business leaders make informed business decisions, reduce uncertainty, improve marketplace practices, and address specific business goals for improving business financial performance, with positive environmental and societal benefits (Langwell & Heaton, 2016). SME owners should adopt SDT to for improving their business performance and sustainability.

Sustainability development refers to how organizations satisfy the current generation's needs without compromising future generations' social well-being and environmental protection while carrying out their business activities (Brenner, 2018). Falle et al. (2016) posited that a sustainability balanced scorecard (SBSC) could help translate an organization's vision and strategy into sustainable strategic objectives and performance targets, measured with respect to six perspective areas. These areas are (a) finance, (b) customers, (c) internal business processes, (d) learning and growth, (e) environmental, and (f) social criteria. Heizmann and Liu (2018) highlighted the complex

concept of leadership concerning sustainability and the need for business leaders to use preemptive business strategies instead of reactive tactics to initiate business processes. Sustainability in business incorporates the organization's commitments to the society and includes the organization's moral and ethical obligations and their impacts on the global community (Aghelie, 2017).

Leaders of SMEs must meet new demands to remain competitive by differentiating themselves from competitors through implementing sustainable practices with higher economic, environmental, and social value for competitive advantage (Parida & Wincent, 2019). Emerging trends of the circular economy, servitization, and digitalization drive sustainable transformation in organizations by shouldering life-cycle responsibilities; shifting from unrenewable to renewable energy; embracing recycling, reusing, refurbishing, and remanufacturing of products; and improving maintenance commitments (Brenner, 2018). Furthermore, leaders of SMEs can use servitization, which is a sustainable transformation that focuses on providing solutions through a service-dominant logic rather than a product-dominant logic for business sustainability and competitive advantage (Parida & Wincent, 2019).

SMEs are constantly facing stiff competition, especially from the external environment; thus, leaders of SMEs should understand how to use their internal resources (intellectual capital, knowledge management, and innovative intelligence) to build sustainable competitive advantage (Ngah et al., 2015). A business leader's knowledge of human resources is indispensable in SMEs' sustainability. Sulaeman et al. (2019) opined that human resource factors such as resource efficiency, employee empowerment,

employee confidence, owner motivation, government motivation, consumer pressure, stakeholder engagement, and transformational leadership support business sustainability.

# Related and Contrasting Theories to Transformational Leadership Theory and Sustainability Development Theory

The TLT and SDT are the conceptual frameworks for this study. The alternative theories to TLT and SDT are transactional leadership theory and stakeholders' theory. In the following subsections, I discussed the transactional leadership theory as a contrasting theory to the TLT and stakeholders' theory as a related theory to the SDT.

#### Transactional Leadership Theory

Leadership styles are often used interchangeably with their underlying leadership theories. The transformational leadership theory is used interchangeably as a transformational leadership style, while transactional leadership theory is used interchangeably with the transactional leadership style (Franco & Matos, 2015). Transactional leadership theory was developed by Burns (1978) and Bass (1985) on the premise of using reward and punishment to influence followers' behavior in an organization. The transactional leadership theory is related to transformational leadership theory. The transactional leadership style is associated with a reward mechanism for employees, while the transformational leadership style draws on self-inspiration to motivate employees (Franco & Matos, 2015).

Both transactional and transformational leadership styles have universal acceptance (Bass, 1997). The transactional leadership style is an exchange process between the leader and the followers where the leader's influence determines compliance

from the followers (Gross, 2016). Appelbaum et al. (2015) indicated that the transactional leadership style does not emphasize employees' shared team values and does not foster a conducive environment for employees' innovativeness and creativity. Transactional leaders use rewards and punishment to exhibit corrective and constructive behaviors among followers; the bond of exchange between leaders and followers is a mutual benefit (Northouse, 2016).

The transactional leadership theory's tenets centered on improving organizational productivity by getting employees and other followers to accomplish assigned tasks through the exchange process (Burns, 1978). The transactional leadership style is an exchange of relationships between the leader and the follower, involving each party's efforts to achieve self-interests that enhance the achievement of the organizational goals (Appelbaum et al., 2015). Transactional leaders also provide tangible rewards and assurances to followers on self-interest, thereby reducing work-related anxiety.

Northouse (2016) posited that transactional leadership is a distinct leadership paradigm with a positive relationship between leaders and followers for effectiveness in an organization.

According to Bass and Avolio (1994), there are three dimensions of transactional leadership: contingent reward, management by exception actively, and management by exception passively. The contingent reward dimension involves leaders rewarding followers based on achieving set targets while in management by exception actively, leaders are actively involved in monitoring employees for enhanced performance. The management by exception passively allows leaders to support followers only when there

are issues or problems on the followers' pathway to performance. Most successful leaders of SMEs displayed an average leadership style that inclines a transformational leadership style that can inspire employees to think and exceed expectations (Dzomonda et al., 2017). Transformational leadership and transactional leadership are the most effective in SMEs when complementing the organization (Singh, 2016).

#### Laissez-Faire Leadership Style

Leaders of SMEs have a more direct and constant interaction that influences employees than larger enterprises due to more negligible hierarchical levels (Ogarcă et al., 2016). Compared to the transformational and transactional leadership style that engages employees, the laissez-faire leadership style is a passive-avoidant leader. Employees of SMEs perceive the democratic leadership style to be more superior to the laissez-faire leadership style due to their ability to engage their followers towards achieving a set goal (Mui et al., 2018). Leaders need to perceive how their leadership style influences their employees to exhibit behaviors that enhance optimal performance and productivity in an organization.

Leaders that exhibit the passive-avoidant leadership style are neither task-oriented nor relationship-driven; they do not engage employees to commit to their responsibility (Suriyankietkaew & Avery, 2016). Avolio and Bass (1999) identified two central tenets of the passive-avoidant leadership style, which are: (a) indifference to employees and lack of commitment to the task, (b) application of corrective measures by the leader in response to employees' shortcomings. Despite the negative impact of the passive-avoidant leadership style on employees and tasks, the laissez-fair leadership style gives

employees the freedom to use their initiative for creativity and innovative processes (Samuel et al., 2015).

#### Stakeholders' Theory

Freeman developed the stakeholders' theory in 1984 to help organizational leaders understand how to approach individuals' and groups' interests that impact an organization's effectiveness either directly or indirectly. Stakeholder groups of SMEs may include shareholders, employees, suppliers, customers, government, nongovernmental organizations, competitors, activists, media, and local communities (Freeman, 2015). Business leaders are encouraged to develop business models that incorporate stakeholders' engagement for value creation and organizational sustainability (Freudenreich et al., 2019). Stakeholders' theory is closely related to SDT because both theories reinforce the significance of creating value for different stakeholders of an organization to enhance its effectiveness and sustainability. Both SDT and stakeholders' theory emphasize the need for organizational leaders to consider stakeholders impacted by their business activities through engagement to create economic, societal, and environmental benefits.

Researchers use the stakeholders' theory to analyze individuals or groups of people who can impact an organization and how organizational leaders react to these individuals or groups to manage effectively (Freeman, 2010). Ali Mahdi et al. (2015) emphasized the need for business leaders to engage stakeholders in their strategic plans to achieve their vision and objectives and meet the markets' and stakeholders' expectations. When stakeholders are effectively engaged in the organization's planning process or

given due considerations, it enhances stakeholders' confidence, loyalty, and support to their products and services (Seay, 2015). The stakeholders' theory is a suitable lens for organizational leaders to analyze and understand stakeholders' needs and perspectives regarding economic, social, and environmental benefits (Jones et al., 2018).

Strategic incorporations of socially responsible actions that engage stakeholders by SME leaders contribute to the organizations' growth and competitiveness (Madueno et al., 2016). The different stakeholder groups of SMEs could influence organizational activities and play significant roles in developing and implementing measures to alleviate SMEs economic, environmental, and societal issues (Sancho et al., 2018). Organizational leaders should take ownership of the economic, environmental, and societal problems emanating from their organizations' planning, processes, and practices by reinforcing stakeholders' engagement and other measures to curb the adverse effects on their business activities (Madueno et al., 2016). Proactive stakeholder management can influence SMEs' overall performance and sustainability; therefore, owners of SMEs should understand the stakeholders' theory and its impact on their organization.

## Leadership Strategies in Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises

Effective leadership strategies that leaders of SMEs use to manage their organizations are significant drivers for improving employee performance, business growth, and sustainability (Atan et al., 2019). Ineffective leadership strategies impede employee performance and threaten the leader-subordinate relationships and SME sustainability (Asah et al., 2015). According to Dinh et al. (2014), there are no universally accepted leadership strategies or models to manage SMEs. However, a

leader's leadership strategies in an organization for short- and long-term survival are dependent on the organization's situation and the environment. Some SMEs leaders lack an in-depth understanding of their leadership style to objectively evaluate its implication on employees' performance and organizational growth. Because of the characteristic small-size of SMEs, the leader's leadership style and behavior quickly permeate and influence the entire team's culture and performance (Muriithi, 2017; Nanjundeswaraswamy, 2015).

## Strategic Planning

Leadership strategy in SMEs starts with a systematic strategic planning process. A strategic process is a disciplined effort, formalized procedures, and methods an organizational leader uses to formulate strategic decisions integrated into the organizational system to shape, guide, and direct its activities towards achieving articulated results over a period (Ali Mahdi et al., 2015). Bryson (2004) simplified the strategic planning process using the alphabet ABC. The letter A stands for where the organization is today, its mission of existence, while B stands for where the organization intends to reach, its future state called vision. The alphabet C is the how-to, which adopts various strategies through a well-structured plan process that leads the organization from point A to B.

According to Bryson (2004), understanding the organizations' mission statement and defining a strategic plan is essential to SME's sustainability and growth. Owners of SMEs should align their sustainable leadership strategy formulation with the organization's mission statements and share with the organization's stakeholders to

establish a unified purpose and direction of business activities (Duygulu et al., 2016).

Organizational leaders who establish a well-defined plan for accomplishing their organization's vision find it easy to implement various leadership strategies that translate to positive organizational performance and outcomes (Pyngavil, 2015).

## Stakeholders' Engagement

Various studies have shown that leadership styles significantly influence organizational performance and sustainability; and that different leadership styles may produce varying results in different cultural settings (Muriithi, 2017; Olawale & Garwe, 2015). However, when business leaders can strategically engage all stakeholders in the organization's business activities, it may lead to an affective commitment from employees and other stakeholders (Azim et al., 2019). Abdullah et al. (2017) indicated a significant relationship exists between employees' happiness at the workplace through engagement, which increases their affective commitment to the organization's performance and growth initiatives. Leaders of SMEs should ensure that employees' strategic engagement is part of their leadership strategy for business growth and sustainability.

Business leaders need to exhibit management behaviors that impact and improve employee engagement and enhance the organization's creative process (Azim et al., 2019). According to Azim et al. (2019), business leaders have used various management behaviors to enhance creativity and employee engagement in SMEs. Some of these management behaviors include (a) designing a supportive organizational culture, (b) giving employees the latitude to engage in creative activities, and (c) maintaining close

relationships with employees in the organization to stimulate workplace happiness and affective commitment. Goswami et al. (2016) also emphasized that business leaders should use cheerful humor to inspire and influence subordinates' positive emotions at work and work engagement.

Business leaders face challenges such as changing government policies, managing disruptive technology, or changing customers. Leaders of SMEs who consult employees and other stakeholders when faced with challenges in the organizations can efficiently address and overcome these barriers through strategic stakeholder engagement (Sikalieh et al., 2016). Business leaders need to adopt lean management practices, an approach of business management that supports systematic continuous improvement through employee engagement in decision making to meet customers' needs and improve efficiency (Burawat, 2019).

# Leadership Style

An ineffective leadership style often impedes SMEs' operation and growth (Katarzyna & Joanna, 2016). Appropriate leadership style has a significant impact on SMEs' function and performance. Atan et al. (2019) indicated that SME leaders use transformational leadership to increase employee engagement and employee competency, which drives individuals, groups, and the entire organization to become more effective, competitive, and overall business transformation. Sulieman (2018) opined that transformational leadership behaviors increase workers' perception of change management, leading to a higher success rate, growth, and business sustainability. Mihai et al. (2017) examined the similarities, differences, and particularities of leadership styles

among 50 SME owners in Romania and 128 SME owners in the Netherlands. The study showed that the democratic leadership style was the most dominant and most acceptable leadership style by employees and SMEs' owners in the two sampled countries. Mihai et al. opined that factors such as the SME owners' organization and sex's age significantly impacted leadership styles and behaviors.

SME business environments are constantly changing. Some factors that influence SME business environments include technology advancement, change in government policies, consumers changing needs, and competitors' advancement. Because of the dynamic SME business environment, researchers have recommended that business leaders should replace traditional leadership styles with transformational leadership styles to enhance organizational performance and sustainability (Nanjundeswaraswamy, 2015). Through a transformational leadership style, business leaders will influence and motivate employees and other stakeholders to support change initiatives for an overall competitive advantage for the organization (Boukamcha, 2019). The transformational leadership style tenets regarding intellectual stimulation and inspirational motivation trigger workers' innovativeness, proactiveness, and venturing into a new business (Khalili, 2016). Long et al. (2016) indicated that inspirational motivation has a significant and robust positive relationship with affective organizational commitment; hence transformational leadership is deemed to have a higher significance to organizational commitment than the transactional leadership style.

According to Ogarcă et al. (2016), owners of SMEs can reduce the high failure rate in SMEs if they can incorporate leadership style and personal values that motivate

and boost employees' morale in their organization's management. Some of these personal values, as mentioned by Asah et al. (2015), include; (a) improved remuneration and benefits, (b) employee's involvement in decision making, (c) fairness and transparency in leadership, (d) simplified job description and process, (e) empathy from leaders, (f) effective communication strategies, and (g) employee motivation. The adoption of leadership development practices and human resource management (HRM) strategy in SMEs that fit into organizations' corporate strategy through leadership expertise can influence the intensity of SMEs' development (Garavan et al., 2016). Leadership development practices should be adopted in theory and practice by leaders of SMEs to harness their leadership style in line with the HRM strategy for optimal performance, growth, and sustainability (Garavan et al., 2016).

#### *Innovativeness*

With the increase in globalization, rapid pace of technology advancement, changing customer needs, and a growing knowledge workforce, SMEs must adopt an organizational change leadership model that supports risk-taking for higher innovation to achieve optimal organizational performance (Maladzhi, 2015). Competent leaders of SMEs can achieve higher innovativeness in their organization by encouraging their employees to be creative (Woschke et al., 2017). Leaders of SMEs that adopt the risk-taking leadership model can create an innovative environment for higher performance and sustainable competitive edge (Ceptureanu & Ceptureanu, 2019). Employees' perceptions towards leadership, work value ethics, and workplace innovation significantly impacts adopting innovative practices in SMEs. Hence, business leaders

should exhibit behaviors that promote workplace innovativeness for enhanced organizational performance and productivity (Muenjohn & McMurray, 2016).

Government policies that promote innovative practices for SMEs' sustainability are often reviewed and prioritized because of SMEs' vital role in most countries' economic growth (Muenjohn & McMurray, 2017). Most governments now ensure that favorable policies are put in place to guide SMEs' operations. By sustaining improved performance through continuous innovative practices, owners of SMEs could increase their business survival rate, thereby contributing to unemployment and poverty reduction as social implications (Martinez-Conesa et al., 2017). Also, SME leaders who create behaviorally integrated top management teams offer their team members more chances of being innovative and generating new ideas than the less behaviorally integrated management team in the workplace (Jahanshahi & Brem, 2017). SMEs' leaders should ensure that the leadership strategies they use in managing their organization are intensive and dynamic to enhance organizations' agility, business model renewal, and sustainable competitiveness (Arbussa et al., 2017).

## **Business Sustainability**

The drive for sustainability in the contemporary business world is centered on three principal constructs: economy, society, and the environment (Williams et al., 2017). These foundational principles guide business activities to meet economic value while protecting the environment and positively impacting society (Parida & Wincent, 2019). Organization leaders are the main drivers of sustainability initiatives and practices, and they must develop strategies that enhance corporate sustainability. Business leaders

should ensure that all business activities have an economic-financial impact on the organization and give due consideration to social and environmental impacts (Shields & Shelleman, 2015).

Davis and Boulet (2016) indicated that business leaders should imbibe the culture of sustainability by ensuring that their stakeholders share the same convictions regarding economic efficiency, social equity, and environmental accountability associated with all business activities in the organization. A culture of sustainability develops when employees participate in sustainability projects through learning and engagement (Aghelie, 2017). According to Georgalis et al. (2015), employees play crucial roles in achieving any successful change initiative, such as driving towards a sustainable organization. Employees are part of the active implementers of business activities channeled towards a sustainable purpose. Therefore, it is pivotal for organizational leadership to engage employees in implementing sustainable business activities and practices collaboratively. Consequently, organizational leaders and policymakers should give importance to employees and other stakeholders' engagement in any change initiative that promotes overall business sustainability.

#### Environmental Sustainability

To enhance the organization's environmental sustainability due to concerns and pressures from various stakeholders and regulators, most business leaders seek an innovative alternative source of green business practices. Alternative energy sources like solar power, wind power, and biofuels reduce the carbon emissions in the environment from their business activities (Kylili & Fokaides, 2017). Business leaders need to focus

on trends and innovation using renewable or alternative energy sources to promote environmental awareness in their sustainability drive (Yoon et al., 2016). According to Choudhary and Srivastava (2019), the energy innovation system is never an easy process due to the complexity of technological success, public acceptance, and environmental sensitivity, which often affect the product supply chain. However, an energy innovation system is an initiative that organization leaders need to embrace for enhanced environmental sustainability for now and in the future.

Business leaders embrace new trends and innovative business practices that promote environmentally sustainable practices that give due consideration to the present and future impact of its activities on the environment (Hashmi et al., 2015). Creating action-centered learning opportunities for employees and other stakeholders to better understand and contribute their business activities to economic, social, and environmental well-being may enhance sustainability drive in SMEs (Epstein & Buhovac, 2014). Most SMEs' actions in the construction sector harm the natural environment due to energy usage, materials usage, water consumption, and waste generation (Kylili & Fokaides, 2017). Hence, regulatory bodies need to continuously enact and review policies, directives, initiatives, and regulations that improve environmental awareness and sustainability in the construction sector. Sustainability practice in the construction industry could improve through alternative, recycled, natural, thermal insulation materials, prefabricated building elements, and unconventional materials for energy savings and waste minimization (Kylili & Fokaides, 2017). There is a constant need for globalization and government intervention to improve environmental sustainability by

integrating life cycle assessment (LCA) of materials usage and disposal in SMEs (Bell et al., 2019).

## Social Sustainability

Stakeholders should support a corporate social sustainability drive that meets societal expectations. According to Epstein and Buhovac (2014), it is paramount to engage stakeholders through collaborative efforts that promote more innovative business practices that support the organization's competitive advantage and incorporate concepts that enhance social benefits. Some organizations assume that equating their corporate social responsibility (CSR) activities to a sustainable organization is incorrect. CSR affects organizations' sustainability performance without the other principal constructs of sustainability (Raza & Majid, 2016). Business leaders should create a value system that integrates all parties' interests with adequate considerations while engaging in business activities that drive positive social impact to improve societal and organizational well-being (Hahn et al., 2014).

Organizational leaders need to consider social responsibility that maximizes firm value. Firms can achieve their values through business sustainability by protecting all stakeholders (Choudhary & Srivastava, 2019). An organization's stakeholders include investors, creditors, suppliers, customers, employees, the environment, and society. When stakeholders' interests are well protected in the quest for sustainable practices in the organization, it enhances social benefits such as job creation and employee satisfaction (Aghelie, 2017). As Davis and Boulet (2016) emphasized, business leaders should integrate strategies that promote cross-training of employees and other stakeholders

through action learning opportunities to enhance the attainment of environmental sustainability.

## Economic Sustainability

By properly aligning organizational values with societal values, business leaders may create streamlined practices to increase economic responsibility and create shared value (Duygulu et al., 2016). One of the foundational essences of business establishment is value creation. Therefore, organizational leadership and policymakers continually collaborate to ensure that organizations create and deliver values efficiently to generate profit after cost. SMEs' value creation process involves creating more valuable outputs than inputs (Le Pennec & Raufflet, 2018). Organizational leaders should consider all stakeholders' interests and strive to develop a sustainable corporate organization through managerial strategies to enhance the organization's shareholders' economic value creation. Managers and leaders of SMEs can enhance their economic value creation through stakeholder synergy in their strategic realm to create a broader value creation that produces a sustainable competitive advantage for the organization (Tantalo & Priem, 2016). Stakeholder synergy can be achieved through the engagement and collaboration of all stakeholders to align organizational values with societal values to create shared values for economic, social, and environmental benefits (dos Santos Santiago et al., 2018).

# **Sustainability in Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises**

The pressures from ecology, regulations, customers, and social groups tend to enhance SMEs' exhibition of sustainability practices (Katarzyna & Joanna, 2016). SMEs have more flexibility than more giant corporations to quickly adapt and change to meet

critical environmental and social targets (Rauter et al., 2019). Thus, SMEs can offer economic prosperity and environmental protection through their business activities with the right strategy. According to Rauter et al., 2019 business leaders should meet new demands to remain competitive by differentiating themselves from competitors through implementing sustainable practices with higher economic, environmental, and social value for competitive advantage. Parida and Wincent (2019) indicated that the circular economy's emerging trends, such as servitization and digitalization, drive sustainable transformation in SMEs through the shouldering of life-cycle responsibilities. The shift from unrenewable to renewable energy to embracing recycling, reuse, refurbishing, and remanufacturing products and improving maintenance commitments (Parida & Wincent, 2019). Furthermore, SMEs need to embrace servitization, a sustainable transformation geared towards solution provision through a service-dominant logic rather than a productdominant logic (Parida & Wincent, 2019). Driving sustainability practice in SMEs must not be limited to business leaders and owners but should include other organizational stakeholders to understand the effects and impacts of sustainable business activities and practices on the economy, environment, and society (Davis & Boulet, 2016).

# Drivers and Barriers to Sustainability in Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises

Business practitioners and policymakers need to know the drivers and barriers to SMEs' sustainable business practices (Aghelie, 2017). SMEs make a significant contribution to the economic growth of many nations. Hence, owners of SMEs, policymakers, and government regulators must understand the opportunities that enhance SMEs' sustainability and develop appropriate strategies to overcome barriers to

sustainable business practices (Boukamcha, 2019). Researchers have identified some identified barriers to sustainable practices (Yadav et al., 2018; Aghelie, 2017). The barriers highlighted are: (a) inappropriate business structure and style, (b) lack of government regulations, (c) lack of knowledge and awareness of green business practices, (d) social barriers, and (e) financial obstacles. Business owners and government regulators should draw strategies to overcome these barriers, which may ease SMEs' sustainable practices (Katarzyna & Joanna, 2016).

Leaders of SMEs and other stakeholders in the organization need to understand the effect of identified drivers of sustainability and integrate and implement them to promote sustainable practices (Yadav et al., 2018). Aghelie (2017) indicated that there are internal and external drivers of sustainability practices. Some of the identified external drivers of sustainability practices in SMEs are: (a) government, (b) customers, (c) network and alliances, (d) suppliers, (e) community surrounding, (f) competitors, and (g) tangibility aspect of the business sector. In contrast, the identified internal drivers of sustainability practices are (a) employees, (b) organizational culture, (c) brand image and reputation, (d) competitive advantage and strategic intent, (e) environmental management capability, and (f) size of the firm (Aghelie, 2017). Ungrouped drivers of sustainability practices such as future environment importance and the advancement of technology in SMEs are drivers that could enhance SMEs' operational efficiency and profits (Yadav et al., 2018).

## Performance and Sustainability of Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises

Performance management and sustainability are important factors for SMEs' growth and development (Eikelenboom & de Jong, 2019). There are various strategies that leaders of SMEs can adopt to optimize performance and sustainability in their organizations. In the following subsections, I discussed some business optimization strategies.

## High-Performance Management Practices

Researchers have demonstrated that a strong relationship exists between highperformance management practices (HPMP) and sustainability in SMEs; the human
resource management practices adopted by leaders of SMEs have a significant impact on
the organization (Raziq & Wiesner, 2016). By adopting some critical HPMP, owners of
SMEs could positively impact their organizational productivity, turnover, financial
performance, and sustainability. According to Raziq and Wiesner, some HPMP include
(a) personnel selection, (b) performance appraisal, (c) incentive compensation, (d) job
design, (e) grievance procedures, (f) information sharing, (g) attitude assessment, (h)
labor-management participation, (i) quality management, and (k) stakeholder's
engagement. Leaders and managers of SMEs should understand how their leadership and
management style influences their employees to exhibit behaviors that enhance optimal
performance and productivity in an organization (Ogarcă et al., 2016).

#### Sustainability Balanced Scorecard

Business leaders could achieve strategic sustainability and optimize SMEs' performance by developing a sustainability balanced scorecard (SBSC). Organizational

leaders use SBSC to translate an organization's vision and strategy into strategic objectives, performance targets, and measures regarding six perspectives (Falle et al., 2016). The perspective areas of SBSC influence are: (a) finance, (b) customers, (c) internal business processes, (d) learning and growth, (e) environmental, and (f) social criteria. The integration of SMEs' specific objectives to align with SBSC model development is paramount to its success. The process of creating an SBSC in SMEs should be understandable and straightforward to align with the prevailing conditions concerning strategic management, organizational structure, company know-how, and resources (Falle et al., 2016).

Business leaders and other organizations' employees need to be engaged as project team members to develop the organization's SBSC model. The extent of top management support, the presence of a project team, and high employee involvement are key supporting factors to SBSC's success in an organization. The lack of specific resources and blurry strategy formulation negatively influences SBSC development (Falle et al., 2016). SMEs' leadership should support adopting business strategies and activities such as SBSC for enhanced performance and sustainability (Kusi et al., 2015).

#### **Internal Resources and Competencies**

SMEs that integrate transformational leadership, entrepreneurial competence, technical competence, and innovativeness as core management internal resources will grow and sustain their business, irrespective of limited resources available in the organization (Ng & Kee, 2018). Some internal resources and competencies owners of SMEs require to promote open innovation that leads to business sustainability are design-

thinking strategies, value-based communication, stakeholders' engagement, and market orientation (Madanchian & Taherdoost, 2017; Yoon et al., 2016). Owners of SMEs could use the business leaders' management characteristics as the bedrock formation of organizational culture that enhances sustainability.

The behaviors and attitudes of managers of SMEs affect employees' overall behavior, thus creating the culture of the organization that becomes embedded in its procedures and practices (Eikelenboom & de Jong, 2019). According to Buli (2017), strategic orientation, such as entrepreneurial orientation and market orientation, are internal resources that contribute to superior performance, enabling SMEs to grow and remain sustainable. Integrating entrepreneurial and market orientations into SMEs' operation enhance SMEs' survival due to institutional complexity and economically turbulent environments (Buli, 2017). There is a strong link between internal technical competence, entrepreneurial competence, and innovativeness, leading to optimal performance and sustainability in an organization (Ng & Kee, 2018). Therefore, SMEs' leaders should develop these internal core skills to enhance their growth and sustainability.

## **Organizational Structure and Tactical Business Plans**

The different elements of an organization, starting from vision development, organization structures, tactical business plans, operational activities, and management practices, help achieve higher performance, growth, and sustainability in SMEs (Howard et al., 2019). Developing a business plan that aligns with the organization's vision is vital for SMEs' growth. Business owners should integrate an effective organizational structure

that promotes an optimistic shared vision in an organization to achieve higher performance and sustainability (Muriithi, 2017). There is a need for business owners to analytically examine their organizational structure, organization design thinking, and business plans to enable them to manage their organizations effectively and successfully (Snyder et al., 2018).

#### Ethical Behavior

The ethical risks that leaders of SMEs face and how they can mitigate these risks using their values, systems, and operational mechanisms are critical to SMEs' performance and sustainability (Robinson, & Jonker, 2017). Leaders of SMEs face an increased level of ethical risks in product quality, sales and misconduct by customers, the threat of theft, unfair competitive behavior, accounting, fraud, and their supply chain (Robinson, & Jonker, 2017). Business leaders should display a high commitment to ethical behavior regarding fair treatment of customers concerning the pricing of their products and services. When stakeholders perceive organizations as firms that exhibit and uphold ethical behaviors, it builds confidence, trust, and support, thus optimizing performance and business sustainability (Fatoki, 2015). Therefore, owners of SMEs are encouraged to ensure they should exhibit ethical behaviors that foster sustainability and enhance performance when faced with an ethical situation in their organization. The effect of integrative dynamic capabilities on SMEs' social, environmental, and economic performance can occur when business leaders focus on attaining sustainability goals alongside stable economic outcomes (Eikelenboom & de Jong, 2019).

## Nature and Significance of Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises in Swaziland

The Kingdom of Swaziland, now known as the Kingdom of Eswatini after a name change on 19 April 2018, is the smallest country in Southern Africa, which once had one of the highest incomes per head in Africa (Meyers, 2019). Swaziland's economic development has remained very low over the years, with a decrease in its gross domestic product (GDP) from an average growth rate of 2.7% in the early 2000s to a low of 1.7% in 2015 (CBS, 2016; CSO, 2015). The World Bank's Gross National Income (GNI) estimates in 2001 classified Swaziland as a middle-income economy (World Bank, 2016; WHO, 2015). Swaziland's economic growth has declined in recent years due to a lack of job creation for many job seekers, thereby threatening the country's economic stability (Hlophe & Dlamini, 2017; Meyers, 2019). Due to Swaziland's unemployment rate surge, many job seekers have become entrepreneurs who own SMEs and mostly depend on government and other developmental organizations for survival (Meyers, 2019).

There are various criteria business professionals use to describe the nature and definition of SMEs'. Researchers have used the location, industry classification, economic region, number of employees, net assets, and revenue as the basis for SMEs' description. The most widely adopted SME classification criterion in the literature is the number of employees. In the developed economies, SMEs are regarded as an organization with 250-500 employees and 100 employees or less in the developing economies, while in the underdeveloped economies, the threshold is 50 or less (Dziedzic, 2019; World Bank, 2016). According to OECD (2017), SMEs can be categorized into micro, small, and medium enterprises employing between 1 to 9 persons, 10 to 49

persons, and 50 to 249 persons. The World Bank defines SMEs as any organization with an annual turnover of 15 Million US Dollars (World Bank, 2015). In Swaziland, SMEs are regarded as organizations with 5 to 100 persons with average net assets not exceeding twenty thousand US Dollars (Bimha et al., 2018).

SMEs are known for their significant contribution to economic development in Swaziland (Sridhar, 2020). Most developed and developing countries recognize that SMEs' businesses and entrepreneurs have a crucial role in job creation and contribution to a nation's economic growth (Muriithi, 2017). About 70% of SMEs collapse in their first year of establishment in Africa, contributing to an increase in the unemployment rate of 28 percent in Swaziland (Dziedzic, 2019; Muriithi, 2017). Developing economies need to create proactive policies focused on growing SMEs rather than large-scale job creation that is not productive. SMEs account for close to 90% of global businesses and create 50-60% of Africa's total employment (Jones et al., 2018; World Bank, 2016).

Lack of appropriate leadership strategies by some business owners of SMEs affects the firms' sustainability and growth, resulting in a negative impact on job creation, income generation, and poverty reduction in emerging economies such as Swaziland (Madanchian & Taherdoost, 2017). Hansen et al. (2018) examined performance variations from 210 African food processing SMEs in Tanzania, Kenya, and Zambia to measure their significance to the populace's economic and societal well-being. According to Triguero et al. (2016) and Hansen et al., African SMEs can consist of three general groups based on performance; these groups are (a) laggards, (b) followers, and (c) gazelles. The gazelles were the high-performing companies with skill-intensive, medium-

sized business units selling differentiated products to a niche market. Simultaneously, the laggards are frequently the small, capital-intensive ones who adopt a cost differentiation strategy in the market. For either a gazelle, laggards, or follower SMEs, the key driver of variation in performance is the quality of the external business environment, the capability of the management team, and the strategic differentiation (Abisuga-Oyekunle et al., 2020).

Researchers use different criteria to explain SMEs' nature depending on the local context, country, and economic development of its location. In some instances, SMEs' definitions vary according to the industry classification. These definitions are primarily associated with the number of employees, net assets, and SMEs' revenues. The World Bank defines SMEs as enterprises with a maximum of 300 employees, an annual turnover of 15 Million Dollars, and net assets of 15 million Dollars (World Bank, 2015).

According to OECD (2017), SMEs are firms employing up to 249 persons.

### **Transition and Summary**

Section 1 of this study contains the foundation of the study, the background of the problem, problem and purpose statements, nature of the study, research question, conceptual framework, definition of terms, assumptions, limitations, delimitation, and the significance of the study. Section 1 also contains an extensive literature review of conceptual frameworks (TLT and SDT) and alternative theories, leadership strategies and business sustainability, performance and sustainability of SMEs, and nature and significance of SMEs in Swaziland. In section 2, I restated the purpose statement and described the role of the researcher, participants, research method and design, population

and sampling, ethical research, data collection and analysis techniques, and validity and reliability of the study. In section 3, I provided an overview of the study, incorporated the findings of the doctoral study, and discussed the application to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and further study, reflections, and summary and study conclusions.

## Section 2: The Project

In this section, I restate the purpose statement and describe the research method and design for the study. I discuss the role of the researcher, participants, population and sampling, ethical research, data collection instruments and techniques, data organization techniques, and data analysis for the study. Lastly, I discuss the reliability and validity of the study.

## **Purpose Statement**

The purpose of this qualitative descriptive case study was to explore the leadership strategies that some small business owners use to ensure the sustainability of their organizations in Swaziland. The target population consisted of four small business owners within the four regions of Swaziland who had successful businesses beyond 5 years of business commencement. The implications for social change include SMEs' sustainability and the potential to create more job opportunities to improve the populace's living conditions and social well-being in both Swaziland communities and Swaziland as a nation.

#### Role of the Researcher

In a qualitative study, the researcher is the main instrument for conducting the study (Yin, 2018). The researcher has the primary responsibility for collecting all of the data to be used in the study through interviews, observations, document reviews, and the researcher's reflections (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). The researcher is an active participant in the research process, acting in collaboration with the selected study participants to compile the findings for the study (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). My role as

the researcher for this study was to carefully identify four successful owners of SMEs within the four regions in Swaziland as participants for the study. My role as the researcher also included conducting interviews with the identified participants, audio-recording the information that participants provided, taking notes, transcribing, coding, organizing data into themes, and analyzing findings from the collected data for the study. As the main instrument for this study, I took all necessary steps to ensure that rich, informative, and unbiased data were collected and analyzed. For this study, I gained access to participants through an informed consent form and a letter of invitation (see Appendix A). I collected data from participants using interview protocol (see Appendix B) and interview questions (see Appendix C) to answer the research question.

The relationships between the researcher and the participants before the research, during the research, and after the research are critical elements of a research design (Florczak, 2017). As an SME owner in South Africa for over 10 years, I have had experience with the importance of appropriate use of leadership strategies to ensure business sustainability. My personal experience with how SME owners can effectively use leadership strategies to enhance business sustainability was one motivating factor for this study. Merriam and Grenier (2019) recommended that a researcher reflect on their relationships to the study participants and make decisions to mitigate rapports from affecting the research outcomes. It is also essential that any prior personal or professional relationships between the researcher and any of the participants are well explained before the commencement of data collection (Corlett & Mavin, 2018). I ensured that I had a purposeful and equitable selection of participants to mitigate unfair inclusion or exclusion

of potential participants. For this research, I had no direct relationship with the selected participants from the four regions of Swaziland.

The interpretative nature of qualitative studies requires that researchers make explicit their experiences, bias, and personal backgrounds such that these considerations add value rather than undermine researchers' interpretations and propositions (Brown et al., 2018). Though it is helpful for the researcher to bring relevant personal experiences into the research process, the researcher must ensure that these experiences do not bring bias or constitute ethical flaws in the research (Florczak, 2017). To mitigate biases, I ensured that I avoided personal assumptions and beliefs and used recordings of the participants' voices for data analysis instead of using my personal experience.

Researchers should use the researcher identity memo to ensure that their personal beliefs and experiences do not influence the research process (Cypress, 2017). I ensured data saturation through continual interviews of participants until no new themes emerged.

Further, I excluded personal bias from the interviews, observations, and documentary reviews such that the collected data did not include my personal opinions.

In conducting research that requires interaction with human beings, a researcher must take all reasonable steps to ensure that the study's objectives do not take precedence over the ethical and moral protection of the rights of the participants (Collins & Stockton, 2018). The chosen research methodology by the researcher should be ethically and morally acceptable and protective of the participants from the period of gaining access to participants until the publishing of the results of the study (Abdalla et al., 2018). I conducted this study in full compliance with the Walden University research protocols

and Institutional Review Board (IRB) regulations. I also adhered to the *Belmont Report* (1979) by informing participants about the risk and benefits of taking part in the study and ethically guided, respected, and protected them as human subjects used for the research.

## **Participants**

In a qualitative study, the appropriateness of the target participants is vital to the credibility and acceptability of the research (Yin, 2018). The participants for this study comprised four owners of SMEs, one from each region of Swaziland. Researchers need to select participants with the required knowledge and experience regarding their research topics (Saunders & Townsend, 2018). To ensure that the selection of participants aligns with the overarching research question, a researcher needs to establish criteria for participants' selection (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). The criteria for the selection of participants for this study encompassed SME owners who had used various leadership strategies to enhance their business sustainability with more than 5 years of experience. Another criterion specified the selection of SME owners who had been in business in Swaziland for 5 years.

Researchers should ensure that they explore various strategies to gain access to the target participants for a study (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). I used the purposive sampling technique to gain access to the population for this study. I accessed the participants for this study through the Swaziland Micro Medium Enterprises Unit and the Swaziland Association of Business Owners directory. This website categorizes organizations by the nature of the business, names of owners, years of operation, business

telephone, and email addresses. After obtaining approval from the Walden University IRB, I gained access to participants by sending out an informed consent form to the target participants explaining the purpose of the study and seeking their willingness to participate.

My initial contact with the participants for the study occurred after receiving approval from the Walden IRB. Building a good relationship with the study's participants is central to receiving needed cooperation and information from the participants (Corlett & Mavin, 2018). Establishing a good working relationship with the participants is an approach that a researcher can pursue to encourage openness and sharing of information about the research topic (Kraft et al., 2019). An essential practice in conducting research is to obtain approval from the official gatekeepers of an organization (Moser & Korstjens, 2018). After receiving approval from the IRB, I introduced myself to the prospective participants and informed them about the purpose of the study through a phone call. Next, I sent the informed consent form, letter of invitation (see Appendix A), and interview protocol (see Appendix B) with questions through email to the potential participants. I also explained their right to confidentiality and the voluntary nature of participation in the study. There was consistent communication between me and the participants via telephone or email about appointment schedules or clarification of any concerns about the research. I also assured participants of the voluntary nature of their participation, confidentiality, trust, interview modalities, and other disclosures as deemed fit before conducting the research.

## **Research Method and Design**

Research method and design are fundamental components of the research process and are essential in attaining reliable and credible outcomes of a study (Abdalla et al., 2018). The research question, the nature of the phenomenon of the study, worldview assumptions, and personal experiences are some of the primary factors that researchers consider when choosing research methods and design (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018).

According to Corlett and Mavin (2018), the three main research methods are qualitative, quantitative, and mixed methods. Researchers should ensure that the chosen research design aligns with the research method to effectively answer the overarching research question of the study (Yin, 2016). The following are the various research designs for qualitative studies: (a) case study, (b) narrative, (c) ethnography, and (d) phenomenology (Yin, 2016). In this section of my study, I discuss the selected research method and the research design for this study, the rationale for choosing a qualitative multiple case study approach, and how I reached data saturation.

#### Method

A researcher may select from the following research methods: qualitative, quantitative, or mixed methods (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). A researcher's choice is dependent on the most applicable research method that aligns with the purpose of the study (Yin, 2016). I used the qualitative research method for this study because it aligned with the purpose of the study. Researchers use the qualitative method to explore why and how people cope in real-world settings (Klenke, 2016). I used the qualitative method to

generate nonnumeric data about the various leadership strategies that owners of SMEs in Swaziland use to enhance their business sustainability.

The qualitative research method is applicable where a statistical application is impossible for addressing a study's phenomenon, and textural data are needed to answer the research question (Cruz & Tantia, 2017). Qualitative researchers better understand a phenomenon under study by collecting data from participants through interviews, observations, and review of documents (Yin, 2018). I explored the various leadership strategies that small business owners use for business sustainability beyond 5 years through conducting semistructured interviews with some owners of SMEs in Swaziland. My focus was interviewing participants to gain an in-depth understanding of their answers to the research question using open-ended interview questions and probing to the point of data saturation when no new themes emerged.

The quantitative research method was not appropriate for this study because the focus was not explaining the relationships among variables. Researchers use the quantitative method to examine or explain relationships among variables using statistical, mathematical, or computational techniques concerning a phenomenon of interest, which was not the focus of this study (Appelbaum et al., 2018). Quantitative researchers formulate questions and hypotheses to direct and anchor a study (Khaldi, 2017). The quantitative research approach is based on statistical evidence through hypothesis testing of numerous variables (Yin, 2016). The quantitative research approach includes managing numerous variables relevant for studies requiring numerical measurements (Saunders et al., 2015). In quantitative studies, the emphasis is on controlling variables

instead of understanding a phenomenon from participants' experience, as in qualitative studies (Yin, 2016). My goal in this study was not to examine the relationship between variables or test hypotheses; therefore, the quantitative method was not suitable for this study because it did not align with the objective of this study.

The mixed method was also not appropriate for this study because the purpose was not to examine relationships between variables. As opined by Palinkas et al. (2015), mixed methods combine qualitative and quantitative methods that involve examinations of variables and analyzing empirical data, which were not applicable for this study. Researchers use the mixed method approach to explore phenomena based on examining the relationship between variables and participants' perspectives (Saunders et al., 2015). The mixed method was unsuitable for this study because the emphasis was on understanding the phenomenon within the participants' experiences and not examining or comparing variables based on statistical data.

## **Research Design**

The principal qualitative research designs include case study, phenomenology, ethnography, and narrative (Kim et al., 2017). For this study, I used multiple case study as the research design to develop in-depth knowledge about the study from various cases. Researchers use open-ended questions in semistructured interviews to gather information that answers *how*, *why*, or *what* questions about a phenomenon or situation and identify patterns (Bengtsson, 2016). Case studies are appropriate for researching a contemporary phenomenon because the researchers can gather valuable features of events and simultaneously maintain the holistic context (Yin, 2018). Case study designs are suitable

for exploring all of the components, interrelationships, and contextual conditions about a study's phenomenon (Kegler et al., 2019). Analyzing and reporting data within the context of real life rather than attempting to manipulate the context is an integral part of a case study design (Brown et al., 2018). Using open-ended, semistructured interviews is one of the strategies in case study design for collecting data through direct communication with participants (Collins & Stockton, 2018).

Researchers use single case study design to understand an issue among subunits that are part of one case and use multiple case designs for exploring a phenomenon between cases to understand similarities and differences (Yin, 2018). Comparison between cases was helpful for this study because it helped me to acquire a more comprehensive understanding of the participants' practices, which was valuable for literal replication. I used multiple case study as the research design for this study versus a single case study. Addressing the purpose of this study required data collection from different cases to compare data among cases for a better understanding of relevant perspectives. Using a multiple case study design enabled me to understand better the various leadership strategies that business owners use to enhance SMEs' sustainability in Swaziland. I used the multiple case study design to answer the overarching research question concerning the various leadership strategies that owners of SMEs use to enhance business sustainability.

Researchers use the phenomenological research design to understand the universal nature of participants' life experiences (Cibangu & Hepworth, 2016; Nazir, 2016), which was not the focus of this study. Through this study, I intended to understand various

leadership strategies that owners of SMEs use to enhance business sustainability in a reallife context, rather than to understand the phenomenon based on the participants' lived experiences. The fundamental elements of the phenomenological design do not meet the need for obtaining a contextual view of leadership strategies in SMEs, which was the focus of this study.

According to Kim et al. (2017), researchers use the narrative research design to obtain information from individuals' personal stories, leading to contextualized, historical accounts, which was not the focus of this study. The use of the narrative approach as a research design in a study involves exploration through the chronological narration of individuals' life stories and experiences (Colorafi & Evans, 2016). In the narrative design, the researcher explores the reality of a phenomenon, focusing specifically on events as they happened in the lives of individuals (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). The narrative design did not align with the aim of this study, which was to explore various leadership strategies that business owners use in an organizational system versus understanding a phenomenon through the life story of specific individuals. The chronological dimension of the narrative approach would not have helped to enhance the data collection, analysis, or interpretation of this research inquiry.

Researchers use ethnographic research design to identify and explain the significance of a shared pattern, beliefs, culture, and behavior of individuals and groups of people (Bengtsson, 2016). The ethnographic design allows researchers to understand the cultural behaviors of a group by interacting within the group, interviewing, and observing members over a prolonged period (Atkinson & Morriss, 2017). The

ethnographic design involves interpreting a phenomenon through the shared beliefs, behaviors, and experiences of a group in its environment (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). I did not use the ethnographic design for this study because my intent was not to identify a group of people's shared beliefs, culture, and behavior.

Data saturation is a technique used by researchers to ensure that data collected are adequate and meet the quality criteria of research to enhance the credibility of the findings in the study (Cypress, 2017). Sample size consideration is essential to ensure extensive information regarding the phenomenon of the study is adequately collected (Abdalla et al., 2018). The sample size for this study included four owners of SMEs within the four regions of Swaziland.

To achieve rigor and validity in a qualitative study, researchers should attain data saturation when no new information emerges with additional interviews (Florczak, 2017; Korstjens & Moser, 2018). To reach data saturation in this study, I continued to collect and analyze data from the participants of this study until no new information and themes were emerging. The study's strategy for enhancing credibility, reliability, and validity was to conduct semistructured interviews with a small purposive sample of SMEs owners in Swaziland to obtain their real-life experience of using various leadership strategies to enhance their business sustainability.

# **Population and Sampling**

The target population and sampling techniques used in qualitative research should align with the study's phenomenon and research methodology (Schreier, 2018). Defining the target population of a study is an essential step in the sampling stage of research

(Abdalla et al., 2018). The target population for this study consisted of four owners of SMEs within the four regions of Swaziland. Researchers need to establish a specification as boundaries for the target population by using selection criteria that align with the study's intent when selecting the participants for a study (Etikan & Bala, 2017). I selected the participants for this study using the following criteria: (a) be an owner of SME within the four regions of Swaziland (b) has led and managed an SME successfully for 5 years or more, and (c) have actively held a leadership position in the management of a successful SME.

In a qualitative study, researchers use various sampling techniques such as purposive sampling, random sampling, and snowball sampling (Ames et al., 2019). I used a purposive sampling strategy for the selection of the participants for this study. Purposive sampling techniques involve grouping individuals by the selection criteria defined by the researcher for the selection of participants for the study (Etikan & Bala, 2017). Researchers use purposive sampling to match the cases under study to align with the research objectives (Schreier, 2018). The rationale for choosing a purposive sampling technique was to gather explicit and rich details from individuals who have used different leadership strategies to lead SMEs beyond the period identified in the participants' selection criteria.

Researchers need to ensure they explore various strategies to gain access to target participants for the study (Merriam & Grenier, 2019). I used the purposive sampling technique to gain access to the population for this study. I accessed the participants for this study through the Swaziland Micro Medium Enterprises Unit, Business Eswatini, and

the Swaziland Association of Business owners' directory. The website categorizes organizations by nature of the business, names of owners, years of operation, business telephone, and e-mail addresses of potential participants for the study. In purposeful sampling, the researchers select a sample size that can provide relevant knowledge, practices, and experience that align with the phenomenon under study (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). An essential consideration in my selection of sample size for this study was to select participants with the most relevant knowledge, through practice, about leadership skills for SME sustainability.

One way of enhancing rigor, improving validity, credibility, and transferability of findings in a study is the use of appropriate participants and sample size (Boddy, 2016). The sample size in a qualitative study is dependent on the degree of certainty the researcher aims to secure in a multiple case study (Schreier, 2018). Sample size consideration is essential in ensuring that the researcher collects an extensive volume of information and points of view regarding the research topic (Lune & Berg, 2017). The sample size for this study included four owners of SMEs within the four regions of Swaziland. The sample size is appropriate if the participants can adequately answer the research question, focusing on the depth of data versus the frequency of appearance of the data (Yin, 2018). There was consistent communication between the participants and me via telephone or e-mail about appointment schedules, updates on the research, or clarification on any concerns about the research. I also assured the participants

#### **Ethical Research**

Ethical consideration is one of the primary concerns of a researcher in qualitative research. Qualitative researchers need to comprehend and consider professional codes of conduct issues on integrity, ethics, and honesty in all aspects of their research (Fouché & Chubb, 2017). I completed the Collaborative Institutional Training Initiative (CITI) webbased training (see Appendix D), a requirement by Walden University, to better understand the ethical issues that affect participants while conducting research. I adhered to Belmont Report's ethical standards to avoid ethical concerns. Some common ethical issues with qualitative research include confidentiality, privacy, and protection right, and researchers' bias on the participants (Dekas & McCune, 2015; USDHHS, 1979). To demonstrate compliance with ethical practices, participants received initial communication to participate in the research after receiving approval from the IRB of Walden University. Researchers must ensure adherence to ethical principles, codes, and practices before, during, and after the research (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018).

One of the ethical obligations in conducting qualitative research is to provide adequate information about the study to ensure targeted participants can independently determine his or her participation in the research (Chesser et al., 2019). After obtaining IRB approval, I sent an informed consent form to all potential participants for the study. The content of the informed consent form included the purpose of the study, the procedure for consenting, the right to participate voluntarily, the nature of the study, and the protection of the participant's right to privacy. Other information contained in the informed consent form included the risk and benefit of participating in the study, the

option to withdraw at any time from the study, payments, if any, participants' signature, and my contact information. Participants appending their signature on the consent form will demonstrate the participant's and the researchers' agreement to pursue the interview following the terms identified in the consent form (Dekas & McCune, 2015). In qualitative research, participants have the right to withdraw before or during the data collection process without penalty by informing the researcher of their decision to withdraw either through email, phone, or face-to-face contact (Hadidi et al., 2013; Merriam & Grenier, 2019).

Qualitative researchers need to consider offering participants incentives while recruiting the participants for a study (Ketefian, 2015; Robinson, 2014). The use of incentives might increase the possibility of participation and motivation of participants; however, ethical issues may also arise from offering incentives (Oltmann, 2016). For this study, I informed the participants that there would not be any payment or incentive for participation. However, I enlightened the participants about the benefits of learnings from the study and promised to provide them with a summary report of the study's findings. The anticipation was that the information from this study would help understand the various leadership strategies for SMEs' sustainability and survival beyond 5 years.

One of the strategies to minimize or eliminate participants' anxiety during the data collection process is to discuss the appropriate location and time for the interview with the participants (Fouché & Chubb, 2017). I informed the participants of their right to choose the location for their interview. To demonstrate trustworthiness, credibility, and avoid unnecessary ethical risks that could harm the participants and discredit the

research, qualitative researchers should establish ethical practices to protect participant's privacy and safety before data collection (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). Qualitative researchers need to maintain participants' confidentiality by using abstract codes such as alphanumeric codes- P1, P2, P3, and P4 to generate names and label to protect participants' identities in the study (Fouché & Chubb, 2017). For all participants' information collected through online videoconferencing for a one-on-one interview and emails to obtain consent, I ensured the confidentiality of data by removing all possible participants' identifiers.

Qualitative researchers need to give due consideration to participants' privacy and security of confidential data throughout the life cycle (Head, 2018). I secured all information from the interview on a password-protected computer with access restricted to me only. I recorded the interviews digitally, downloaded data onto a computer, transcribed it, and will store them in a secure place for 5 years. At the end of the storage period, data disposal shall involve destroying all data collected from participants, forms, and journals linked to the study in adherence to Walden University's ethical standards and guidelines.

#### **Data Collection**

#### **Instruments**

I was the primary data collection instrument for this study. In qualitative research, the primary data collection instrument is the researcher, who facilitates collecting valid and reliable data for the study through interviews, sample observation, and examination of documents (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). Qualitative researchers use different techniques

to collect data, including structured, unstructured, and semistructured interviews, observation, document search, and review of archival documents for information (Yin, 2018). By assuming the role of the primary data collection instrument, the researcher could exercise some degree of adaptability and flexibility as opportunities arise for deeper exploration of emerging issues in the study (Merriam & Grenier, 2019).

For this study, the second data collection instrument used semistructured interview questions (see Appendix C) to obtain information from the participants. I also reviewed archival company documents to obtain additional data for this study. I ensured that the interview questions align well with the research question, problem statement, and purpose statement of this study. Due to the ongoing Coronavirus (COVID-19) pandemic and to adhere to social distancing guidelines, I sent the interview questions by email to the participants in a word document format. Sending the interview questions allowed the participants to familiarize themselves with the interview questions and intent of the study in advance. I used an interview protocol (see Appendix B) to direct the interview process for this study. Qualitative researchers use interview protocol as a valuable instrument for data collection, which enables researchers to follow procedural guidelines to direct the conduct of the interview process (Weller et al., 2018). Researchers could also use the interview protocol to focus on the research topic and the procedures they need to follow during and after the interview (Yin, 2018). The use of interview protocol could also enhance the transparency, reliability, and quality of the research.

I used semistructured interview questions (see Appendix C) through telephone communication to obtain information from participants. Researchers use interviews as

techniques to obtain information from participants through conversation, either face-to-face or telephone (Marshall & Rossman, 2016). The telephone interview is a flexible and optional form of data collection and could enable researchers to adhere to current health and safety restrictions due to the ongoing COVID-19 pandemic. In addition, I reviewed company documents to explore archival data. Researchers use semistructured interview questions to engage participants and gain a better response from participants that align with the questions received from the case study (Oltmann, 2016). I used the interview questions to explore the various leadership strategies that owners of SMEs use to ensure business sustainability.

In qualitative research, data source triangulation strengthens research findings' validity and reliability and reduces biases (Abdalla et al., 2018). I used methodological triangulation of multiple data sources and member checking to enhance the reliability and validity of data collected for this study. Note-taking during interviews and collecting information from multiple sources also enables researchers to achieve data triangulation in qualitative research (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). Researchers use methodological triangulation and member checking for quality control to enhance the data collection process's accuracy, validity, and credibility by confirming the findings (Abdalla et al., 2018). I examined some archival company documents of the participants, including review of annual online reports, notes and bulletins. Furthermore, I used member checking to verify the accuracy of the information collected from the various owners of SMEs in Swaziland for this study.

## **Data Collection Technique**

Qualitative researchers use different data collection techniques such as surveys, interviews, direct or participants' observation, site visit, video recording, review of a company or archival documents, a sample of existing data or records to obtain data in a study (Anselmi et al., 2018). For this study, I used the semistructured interview as the primary data collection technique to formulate answers to the research question, which was to explore the various leadership strategies owners of SMEs use for business sustainability. Through semistructured interviews, researchers can ask open-ended questions to extract in-depth and rich information from participants about the phenomenon under the study (Oltmann, 2016).

One main advantage of using the semistructured interview as a data collection technique is that researchers could develop questions around predetermined themes to allow for flexibility in discussions and clarifications through follow-up questions during the interview of participants (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). Draper et al. (2018) discussed two significant side effects of using a semistructured interview technique for data collection. First is the likelihood of the researcher's interjection of explicit or covert statements that may connote personal opinions and influence participants' responses. The second side effect is the potential to introduce bias in a study either due to poor construction of questions or participants' basing their responses on personal interpretation. Pilot testing was not done before this study because it did not apply to this study.

I obtained IRB approval before initiating contact with all participants for this study. All participants were provided with an informed consent form to understand the purpose of the study and append their signature as legal consent to participate in the study. I interviewed according to the guidelines of the interview protocol (see Appendix B). Qualitative researchers use interview protocol as a valuable instrument for data collection, which enables researchers to follow procedural guidelines to direct the conduct of the interview process (Weller et al., 2018). Using the same collection tools, format, questions, introductory and closing remarks for each participant enhances consistency and rigor in a study (Mulder & de Bruijne, 2019). I administered the interview questions (see Appendix C) for this study to explore the various leadership strategies owners of SMEs use in Swaziland to enhance their business sustainability beyond 5 years. During the interview process, I obtained digital audiotaping of the participants' responses to ensure the accuracy and credibility of data collected. To further enhance the credibility, reliability, and validity of the data collection process, I used member checking and methodological triangulation of multiple data sources. I examined the various archival company documents of the participants and used member checking to verify the accuracy of the information collected from the participants.

#### **Data Organization Techniques**

Efficient organization and data documentation is an essential aspect of the research process for ease of retrieving data, protection of data, and confidentiality of participants (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). Data organization in research is also an approach to enhance the reliability and credibility of the study (Lindlof & Tylor, 2019).

For this study, I1 used an interview protocol (see Appendix B) that prescribes procedures such as digital recording, notes taking, data transcription, and analysis using NVivo 11 software to organize data and documents. Note-taking and digital recording during interviews and collecting information from multiple sources enable researchers to effectively organize data and enhance the data analysis process in qualitative research (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018).

I collected, filed, and labelled all data in folders on my computer for ease of accessibility and protection of data. To prevent data loss, I backed up data on iCloud and flash drive. One primary element of the data organization process includes protecting the identity of participants through the use of labels and coding (Lindlof & Tylor, 2019). I used alphanumeric labels for each participant, such as P1, P2 and P3, to identify participants. Using pseudonyms to protect the identity of participants in a qualitative study is an ethical practice and acceptable research process standard (Sutton & Austin, 2015). I used pseudonyms to identify participants for this study. The protection and security of data are part of the ethical responsibilities of a qualitative researcher (Yin, 2018). I stored all data collected for this study for 5 years safely in a passworded electronic storage device. All hard copies of data collected were stored in a confidential file, locked, and accessible to me alone. I will destroy both paper documents and electronic data after 5 years.

#### **Data Analysis Technique**

In a qualitative study, data analysis forms the basis for presenting the results of a study before concluding empirical evidence (Lindlof & Tylor, 2019). The primary

objective of the qualitative researcher in analyzing data in a study is to interpret the meaning of the data through identifying patterns and themes to answer the central research question (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). Different qualitative research designs require different data analysis processes (Yin, 2018). For this study, I analyzed data using the methodological triangulation process to increase the credibility of the case study. I scrutinized and compared data from interviews of the four owners of SMEs and the review of existing documents regarding leadership strategies for business sustainability. Methodological triangulation is the collection and analysis of data from more than one source, such as interviews, review of archival documents, field notes, and observation (Shrestha & Bhatta, 2018).

I used NVivo 11, a computer assisted qualitative data analysis software, to code, categorize, and build hierarchies of themes that provide meaningful insights related to leadership strategies SME owners use for business sustainability in Swaziland. NVivo is a software tool used in qualitative research to facilitate the coding of a large volume of textual data in nodes, showing commonalities among the thematic nodes, and organizing data in hierarchical order (Lowe et al., 2018). Using NVivo to analyze data enables researchers to add codes during data analysis to the point of saturation and enhance a study's reliability (Houghton et al., 2015).

I textually inputted both transcribed, and extracted notes data into the computer for data analysis. I created initial codes relating to the research question and design from the data and input the codes into the computer with the NVivo application for data analysis. I analyzed the data from the semistructured interviews for common themes.

Researchers compare responses from participants to make comparisons in emerged themes with each interview (Barrett & Twycross, 2018). I used the voice web application in transcribing the data for each participant's interview. I constantly studied the data output to observe emerging patterns and themes that answer the research questions. I further used member checking to authenticate the data analysis process. An essential element of data analysis in research is to establish the correlation between the conceptual framework and the study's findings (Sutton & Austin, 2015). The conceptual framework of this study is the stakeholders' theory and the transformational leadership theory. I compared the emerging themes from the data analysis with the conceptual framework of this study.

# **Reliability and Validity**

In qualitative research, there is a need to establish the reliability and validity of a study to determine the consistency and trustworthiness of the study (Cypress, 2017). Qualitative researchers use the concepts of dependability, creditability, transferability, and confirmability to establish rigor and demonstrate the existence of a credible alignment between the data and the study's findings (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). To further enhance rigor and validity in qualitative research, researchers use data triangulation to achieve data saturation (Fusch & Ness, 2015).

## Reliability

The concept of reliability in a qualitative research study relates to the stability and consistency of the research process and the findings of the study over time (Yin, 2018).

Qualitative researchers need to provide evidence of reliability in the study by

documenting each step of the research process and using interview protocol to ensure consistency (Hadi & Closs, 2016). A qualitative study is reliable if the results from the study are dependable, consistent, and replicable by other researchers over time (Cypress, 2017). To establish reliability in this study, I documented the research process and used the interview protocol (see Appendix B) to ensure consistency during the interview process. I further used member checking to ensure the reliability and trustworthiness of the findings of the study.

## **Dependability**

The dependability of the findings from qualitative research enhances the study's rigor and reliability (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). In qualitative research, some of the strategies for addressing the dependability of a study are (a) member checking, (b) audit trail of field notes, (c) reflexivity, and (d) a methodological triangulation (Dikko, 2016). For this study, I used member checking and interview protocol to affirm the authenticity and dependability of the findings. Member checking involves participant's verification of interview transcript and feedback from information generated from participants' responses during the interview (Hadi & Closs, 2016). During the member checking process, participants affirmed the accuracy and completeness of the transcribed responses and summary of the interview. Documentation of the case study procedure and methodological triangulation are other strategies that qualitative research can use to enhance the dependability of the findings in a study (Kornbluh, 2015). I documented all the case study procedures and used methodological triangulation and member checking to enhance the dependability of the findings of this study.

## Validity

In qualitative research, researchers use validity to ensure credibility, confirmability, and transferability of data (Carcone et al., 2015). Validity in qualitative research refers to the suitability of the research instruments such as methodology and design for exploring the phenomenon under study (Yin, 2018). The concept of research validity is also used in qualitative research to establish trustworthiness, integrity, and to minimize bias and errors in a study (Dikko, 2016). Using the validity concept, qualitative researchers could ensure data collection instruments align with the research question to reflect actual participants' experiences and perceptions (Noble & Smith, 2015). In the following subsection, I discussed the use of credibility, confirmability, and transferability to address the validity of my research tool and study findings.

# Credibility

Credibility in qualitative research denotes the truthfulness of the researchers' presentation of data and accurate interpretation of participants' experiences and perspectives (Hadi, & Closs, 2016). Researchers support credibility in a study through methodological triangulation, engagement, and member checking (Kornbluh, 2015). The credibility of a study depends on the accuracy, consistency and interconnections of the concepts, instruments and constructs concerning research findings (Yin, 2018). I used data triangulation by comparing participant's responses and archived company documents to ensure credibility in this study.

## **Transferability**

Transferability is the extent to which the findings of a qualitative study apply to other contexts, settings, or participants (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). To establish transferability, I described the research design, the data collection processes, and the study context to allow ease of comparison of this study to another context. Techniques for establishing transferability in a study include thick descriptions of the data (Noble & Smith, 2015). Using the strategy of thick descriptions, the researcher provides in-depth detail of the phenomenon and the methodologies of the study (Cypress, 2017). To establish transferability, qualitative researchers should attempt to articulate, in rich descriptive language, information concerning the context of their study to ensure participants can determine whether the findings are congruent with their experiences (Hadi & Closs, 2016; Kornbluh, M. (2015). I used the purposive sampling method for data collection, a detailed verbatim description of the participants' responses, and a data triangulation strategy to establish the transferability of this study.

## **Confirmability**

An essential aspect of confirmability is the researcher's ability to show that the data represent the participants' experiences and perspectives and not the researcher's preferences (Leung, 2015; Morse & Coulehan, 2015). I achieved confirmability for this study through member checking and audit trail. Audit trails, member checking, and triangulation are valuable strategies for attaining confirmability in a study (Yin, 2018).

#### Data Saturation

Data saturation involves collecting and analyzing data to the point where no new themes or insights emerge (Fusch & Ness, 2015). The attainment of data saturation in a study could enhance the validity and reliability of qualitative research (Cypress, 2017). Researchers could achieve data saturation in qualitative research through multiple data collection methods such as observations, interviews, and documents review (Denzin & Lincoln, 2018). I conducted semistructured interviews with the participants of this study until no new themes are emerging to ensure data saturation.

## **Transition and Summary**

In section 2, I restated the purpose of the study, discussed my role as the researcher and participants of the study, presented the research method and design, and described the population and sampling strategies. Section 2 also included the data collection instruments and techniques, data organization and data analysis techniques, ethical consideration in research, and the validity and reliability in research. In section 3, I provided a summary of the findings and present data from the study findings, including data from interviews, analysis of the interviews, and archival company documents. I also discussed the application of the findings to professional practice and the implications for social change. Finally, I presented recommendations for action and future research, my reflection on the research process, and the concluding statement.

Section 3: Application to Professional Practice and Implications for Change

The narratives in this section include an overview of the study and a presentation of the leadership strategies that some owners of SMEs use to ensure the sustainability of their organizations in Swaziland. The research participants provided the illustrations that I used to link the study findings with the conceptual frameworks regarding TLT and SDT. Other topics discussed in this section include applications to professional practice, implications for social change, recommendations for action and future research, reflections, and summary and study conclusions.

## **Overview of Study**

This qualitative multiple case study aimed to explore the strategies that owners of SMEs use to ensure the sustainability of their organizations. The conceptual frameworks were TLT and SDT. The overarching question was the following: What leadership strategies do small business owners use to ensure the sustainability of SMEs in Swaziland? Four owners of SMEs within the four regions of Swaziland who had successfully implemented leadership strategies to ensure their businesses' sustainability participated in this study. The participants provided me with the primary and secondary data to answer the overarching research question.

The primary data source was the participants' responses to the semistructured interview questions, and the secondary data sources included online archival documents and notes. I achieved data saturation when no additional information emerged from the company document review and the interview process. Based on the participants' responses to the interview questions, I identified four themes: (a) employee engagement

and quality of service, (b) listening and communication, (c) performance review and reward system, and (d) leadership style. By relating TLT and SDT to the findings, I developed a better understanding of the leadership strategies that some owners of SMEs use to ensure the sustainability of their organizations in Swaziland. The study findings indicate that some owners of SMEs use a blend of strategies to ensure the sustainability of their organizations in Swaziland.

## **Presentation of the Findings**

The overarching research question for this study was the following: What leadership strategies do small business owners use to ensure the sustainability of SMEs in Swaziland? SMEs operate in a dynamic market emerging from advancements in technology, business competition, dynamic customer needs, and globalization (Buli, 2017). Some business owners' lack of appropriate leadership strategies could affect the sustainability and growth of SMEs in emerging economies such as Swaziland (Madanchian & Taherdoost, 2017). Business practitioners and the government should provide training for business leaders on appropriate leadership skills to improve SMEs' growth and sustainability (Katarzyna & Joanna, 2016). Using the triangulation method, I collected data from interviews and combined data from company archival documents such as online annual reports, bulletins, and notes. Upon completing the fourth participant interview, no new information or themes emerged, indicating that I had reached data saturation. I organized the study data using the NVivo 11 application and conducted the thematic analysis.

SMEs play fundamental economic roles in emerging economies; therefore, owners of SMEs need to understand the implications of leadership strategies for organizational sustainability (Muriithi, 2017). Some factors that continuously increase the failure rate of SMEs are lack of enabling environment, inappropriate leadership and management skills, and financial factors (Eikelenboom & de Jong, 2019; Olawale & Garwe, 2015). Business leaders in Swaziland should develop appropriate strategies to minimize the failure rate of SMEs (Muriithi, 2017). Effective leadership strategies that leaders of SMEs use to manage their organizations are significant drivers for improving employee performance, business growth, and sustainability (Atan et al., 2019). The four themes that I identified in this study were (a) employee engagement and quality of service, (b) listening and communication, (c) performance review and reward system, and (d) leadership style. In the following subsections, I presented the four themes that emerged from the document reviews and thematic analysis of the participants' responses to the interview questions (see Table 2).

**Table 2**Leadership Strategies That Owners of Small and Medium-Sized Enterprises Use to Ensure the Sustainability of Their Organizations (N = 4)

Strategies	Percentage of use by participants
Employee engagement and quality of service	100%
Listening and communication	100%
Performance review and reward system	100%
Leadership style	100%

## Theme 1: Employee Engagement and Quality of Service

Business leaders who can strategically engage all stakeholders in the organization's business activities may attain affective commitment from employees and other stakeholders (Azim et al., 2019). Transformational leaders are participative leaders who are involved in the creation of an organization's vision and collaborate with followers to carefully execute the organization's vision (Li et al., 2016). The first theme to emerge was employee engagement and quality of service, which highlighted the importance of engaging employees to sustain the business. The theme employee engagement and quality of service emerged from Interview Questions 1-7 and 9. All participants affirmed using employee engagement and quality of service as a leadership strategy to ensure the sustainability of their organizations.

Abdullah et al. (2017) indicated that a significant relationship exists between employees' happiness in the workplace through engagement, which increases their affective commitment to the organization's performance and growth initiatives.

Transformational leadership style with the deployment of appropriate management behaviors can improve employee engagement and creativity in an organization (Sulieman, 2018). Responding to Interview Question 1, Participant 2 (P2) said, "We tell our employee what to do." According to P2, they "exercise patience with them." In response to Interview Question 1, P4 stated, "I only get my people involved in what I envisage for the progress of the business; we discuss it." Responding to Interview Question 2, P2 asserted, "When I see what I think is right for us to do, I inform him, and he informs the supervisors, or I deal with the employees directly at times." In response to

Interview Question 2, P3 affirmed, "I set down the rules, set the policies, I follow up on the policy and ensure it works for the organization."

Business leaders need to exhibit management behaviors that impact and improve employee engagement and enhance the organization's creative process (Azim et al., 2019). The transformational leadership style has been known to have a positive influence on employees' engagement, changing employee behavior, and creative thinking in SMEs (Azim et al., 2019). In response to Interview Question 3, P4 explained, "I know the strategy is working, but when I do not see people coming, then I know it is not working, and we have to reschedule another meeting to re-strategize." Responding to Interview Question 4, P3 noted, "I work on my quality and give good price, and it works for me." In response to Interview Question 5, P3 opined, "I make sure that the quality is not compromised. So, sometimes I have employees who try pilfering or deliberately abandon critical line work that will affect the result in a timely manner."

Goswami et al. (2016) emphasized that business leaders should use positive humor to inspire and influence subordinates' positive emotions at work and work engagement. Atan et al. (2019) indicated that SME leaders use transformational leadership style to increase employees' engagement and employees competency, which drives individuals, groups, and the entire organization to become more effective and competitive and thereby supports overall business transformation. Responding to Interview Question 6, P3 said, "Some people who have worked with me for years have been helpful in talking to them to explain that if they can focus on their designated

responsibilities, they will reap the benefit as a reward." In response to Interview Question 7, P1 stated,

Majorly we look at what our competitors are doing to achieve success and leverage on it by going the extra miles on it. If they give their participants take home gadgets, we will add the pouch to it, provide free airport pick up and others. P3 confirmed, "The main thing I use is quality over quantity. I make sure that I do not compromise the quality of my product, even if the prices might be higher. I maintain that organization standard." Responding to Interview Question 9, P3 advised upcoming entrepreneurs to be "friendly and have humor, participate and let people feel your impact."

Leaders of SMEs who consult employees and other stakeholders when faced with challenges in the organizations can efficiently address and overcome these barriers through strategic stakeholder engagement (Sikalieh et al., 2016). Firms can achieve their values through business sustainability by protecting all stakeholders (Choudhary & Srivastava, 2019). The findings in the study indicated that owners of SMEs used employee engagement and quality of service as a leadership strategy for ensuring the sustainability of their organizations in Swaziland. As applied in this study, 100% of the participants acknowledged using employee engagement and quality of service as a leadership strategy to ensure the sustainability of their organizations. The participants acknowledged using various strategies to overcome the implementation barriers regarding employee engagement and quality of service to ensure their business sustainability.

# **Theme 2: Listening and Communication**

Ahmed (2017) advised business leaders to use effective communication to enhance their organizational performance. Business practitioners and policymakers need to know the drivers and barriers to SMEs' sustainable business practices (Aghelie, 2017). SMEs' leadership should support the adoption of business strategies and activities for enhanced performance and sustainability (Kusi et al., 2015). The theme of listening and communication emerged from Interview Questions 1-2, 4, 6-7, and 9. All participants recognized the importance of effective listening and communication as a leadership strategy to ensure the sustainability of their business.

Responding to Interview Question 1, P2 stated, "I also listen to their complaints and act where necessary." In response to Interview Question 1, P4 said, "I use effective communication strategy as the main tool to lead the organization all right." Responding to Interview Question 2, P1 remarked, "we communicate as at when due on expectations." P2 stated, "I also take their suggestions, and we go around until everybody will agree and we make a decision." In response to Interview Question 2, P4 attested, "We sit to discuss the vision, then all departmental members contribute, and we distribute assignments based on the organization structure."

In response to Interview Question 4, P2 affirmed, "I am a good listener, and I also come down to the level of my employees. My office is open to all my employees."

Responding to Interview Question 4, P4 remarked, "I am open to my employees, so they know the general vision and how to work towards its attainment." In response to Interview Question 6, P1 noted, "I communicate with them on why we cannot fulfill the

promises we made to them and their look for a way to meet them halfway so that both the organization and the employees will gain." Responding to Interview Question 6, P4 stated, "I listen to our customers and see what our competitors are doing. We try to edge our competitors by ensuring we promote creative and innovative ideas, especially those that are technology driven."

Responding to Interview Question 7, P2 attested, "We also listen to our customers. We use good marketing methods as my son read marketing and advertising in school, so we look for methods to advertise continuously." In response to Interview Question 7, P4 commented, "We constantly communicate to all our stakeholders. We get involved in some corporate social responsibility activities in our community; like fixing street lights for the community." Responding to Interview Question 9, P3 advised owners of SMEs to "have those traits to communicate with the people." In response to Interview Question 9, P4 opined, "Truthfulness from the leader will always develop trust from the followers, I also listen to their ideas and do not just discard it."

The participants' responses to the interview questions aligned with Aghelie's (2017), Ahmed's (2017), and Kusi et al.'s (2015) statements that business leaders use effective listening and communication as a strategy to ensure business sustainability. The study findings demonstrated that owners of SMEs used listening and communication as a leadership strategy to ensure the sustainability of their business in Swaziland. As applied in this study, 100% of the participants attested to using listening and communication as a leadership strategy to ensure their organization's sustainability.

## Theme 3: Performance Review and Reward System

Some owners of SMEs lack appropriate leadership strategies to affect their business sustainability and growth (Madanchian & Taherdoost, 2017). By adopting ineffective leadership strategies, business owners may impede employee performance and threaten the leader-subordinate relationship and SME sustainability (Asah et al., 2015). Performance management and sustainability are important factors for SMEs' growth and development (Eikelenboom & de Jong, 2019). The theme of a performance review and reward system emerged from Interview Questions 1-2, 5-6, and 8. All participants attested to using a performance review and reward system as a leadership strategy to ensure their organizational sustainability.

Responding to Interview Question 1, P4 stated, "I only get my people involved in what I envisage for the progress of the business, we discuss it, and then monitor if it is working or if we need to further review it." In response to Interview Question 2, P1 said, "We communicate as at when due on expectations with proper and effective follow up to monitor progress and implement changes when necessary, by giving room for corrections and effective monitoring and evaluation." Responding to Interview Question 2, P4 remarked, "Then, we have periodical meetings for review, feedback, evaluations, and monitoring."

In response to Interview Question 5, P1 affirmed, "Also due to the economic challenges from the current ongoing global pandemic, we were unable to keep some of the promises we made especially on the health insurance policy we had promised to our employees." Responding to Interview Question 6, P2 remarked, "When I am laying off

some of my staff, I give them half of the following month's salary to make them happy because when your employees are not happy, they will go about spoiling the market for you." In response to Interview Question 6, P3 noted, "I also try to have regular meetings with my employees to create and remind them about the work ethics, strategies and set goals for the organization." Explaining further, P3 added, "I maintain an open reward system that boosts the morale of employees to be at their best to enjoy accrued benefits for their labor." Responding to Interview Question 6, P4 stated, "I create a record system that monitors stages of our implementation, I also punish the unserious employees."

Responding to Interview Question 8, P1 opined, "We practice empathy and make sure their salaries are paid as at when due." In response to Interview Question 8, P2 commented, "You know we Swazis like food a lot, so I always organize a party, and I give my staff members bonus as well. I also give schools free exercise books."

Responding to Interview Question 8, P3 remarked,

I ensure that when you do the right work and exceed expectations, you will be rewarded for it, and if you do not meet the target, I deduct from your pay. I also ensure that I keep to my promise, I also pay them aright without underpaying them.

The participants' responses to the interview questions aligned with Asah et al.'s (2015), Muriithi et al.'s (2017), Eikelenboom and de Jong's (2019), and Madanchian and Taherdoost's (2017) statements that owners of SMEs use a performance review and reward system as a leadership strategy to ensure the sustainability of their organization. The study findings demonstrated that owners of SMEs used a performance review and

reward system as a leadership strategy to ensure their business sustainability. As applied in this study, 100% of the participants attested to using a performance review and reward system as a leadership strategy to ensure their organization's sustainability.

## Theme 4: Leadership Style

A transformational leader uses inspirational motivation and individualized considerations to mentor followers from personalized perspectives towards attaining organizational objectives (Howard et al., 2019). Transformational leaders exhibit other leadership characteristics such as adaptability, entertaining new ideas, and are willing to make sacrifices for the excellent course of the followers and the promotion of the organization (Oladele & Akeke, 2016). The behaviors of a transformational leader in SMEs can increase workers' perception of change management, thus leading to a higher success rate, growth, and sustainability (Sulieman, 2018). According to Ogarcă et al. (2016), owners of SMEs can reduce the high failure rate in SMEs if they can incorporate leadership style and personal values that motivate and boost employees' morale in their organization's management. The theme, leadership style emerged from Interview Questions 1-2, 4, and 8-9. All participants attested using leadership style as a leadership strategy to ensure the sustainability of their organization.

Transformational leaders work hand in hand with their team members to identify changes needed to effectively improve their overall performance through guidance, collaboration, and motivation (Northouse, 2016). Transformational leaders can also use idealized influence, intellectual stimulation, and individualized consideration to enhance innovation performance and organizational support in SMEs (Tajasom et al., 2015).

Responding to Interview Question 1, P1 opined, "Our leadership strategy is situational based as we adopt the Transformational leadership strategy and the Transactional leadership strategy as the case may be." In response to Interview Question 1, P2 commented, "I incorporate family members among my team, and my son mostly runs the organization on my behalf." Responding to Interview Question 1, P3 remarked, "I use Transactional Leadership Strategy just like Bill Gates to manage my organization." In response to Interview Question 2, P2 attested, "My son is the operational manager of the printing press I run."

Business leaders should use a transformational leadership style to influence and motivate employees towards support for SMEs' social, environmental, and economic sustainability (Sulaeman et al., 2019). Through a transformational leadership style, business leaders will influence and motivate employees and other stakeholders to support change initiatives for an overall competitive advantage for the organization (Boukamcha, 2019). In response to Interview Question 4, P1 affirmed, "Transformational Leadership Strategy has been very effective thus far in the sustainability of our business especially as it practices intellectual stimulation." Responding to Interview Question 4, P3 remarked, "I use only one strategy, and it is transactional. It has been effective for me for the past six years." Responding to Interview Question 8, P4 stated, "I am very free with my employees and live like a family. I also encourage them, support them." In response to Interview Question 9, P1 attested, "We encourage people to look beyond their self-interest towards the greater good of the organization and encourage self-development to aid them in their future career as we do not expect them to be with us forever."

The participants' responses to the interview questions demonstrated that leadership style is essential for ensuring the sustainability of SMEs. All owners of SMEs who participated in this study confirmed using leadership style as a leadership strategy to ensure their organization's sustainability. The participants' responses aligned with Boukamcha's (2019), Howard et al.'s (2019), Ogarcă et al.'s (2016), and Sulaeman et al.'s (2019) assertions that business leaders should adopt leadership style to ensure their organizational sustainability. The study findings demonstrated that owners of SMEs used leadership style as a leadership strategy to ensure their organization's sustainability in Swaziland. As applied in this study, 100% of the participants attested using leadership style as a leadership strategy to ensure their organization sustainability.

# Findings Related to Transformational Leadership Theory and Sustainable Development Theory

Understanding the historical development of leadership theories, such as the transformational and transactional leadership model, provides practitioners and scholars with adequate knowledge about leadership practice in SMEs (Mehrabani & Mohamad, 2015). The use of a transformational leadership style by owner-managed SMEs has a significant positive relationship to the success of a change management initiative in an organization (Sulieman, 2018). The use of leadership style within and across the organizations enhanced employee performance, thereby ensuring business sustainability. The study findings indicate that owners of SMEs ensured the sustainability of their organization by implementing effective leadership strategies based on TLT. As applied in

this study, all participants attested using a combination of leadership strategies to ensure their organization's sustainability.

The fundamental tenets of TLT' are a transformational leader's ability to use idealized behavior, intellectual stimulation, individualized consideration, and inspirational motivation to lead followers towards the attainment of enhanced performance and sustainable organization (Katarzyna & Joanna, 2016). Transformational leaders use idealized influence, inspirational motivation, individualized considerations, and intellectual stimulation to drive followers' performance in the organization (Bass & Avolio, 1994). Employee engagement and communication are essential to ensuring the sustainability of an organization. As applied in this study, owners of SMEs should establish effective leadership strategies for ensuring the sustainability of their business.

Based on the themes the participants presented, the TLT and SDT tenets were present in the blend of leadership strategies used to ensure organizational sustainability. All participants confirmed the TLT and SDT regarding using employee engagement and communication as a leadership strategy to ensure the sustainability of their organizations.

Most organizations use the SDT principle construct to foster best business practices to capture and increase economic value while also delivering a positive environmental and social impact to stakeholders and society (Suriyankietkaew & Avery, 2016). Leaders of SMEs must meet new demands to remain competitive by differentiating themselves from competitors through implementing sustainable practices with higher economic, environmental, and social value for competitive advantage (Parida & Wincent, 2019). When owners of SMEs implement effective leadership strategies, they

are ensuring the sustainability of their organizations. As applied in this study, owners of SMEs should establish leadership strategies for ensuring business sustainability. All participants confirmed the TLT and SDT models regarding using leadership strategies to ensure their organizational sustainability.

Business leaders use the sustainability development theory principal constructs as foundational principles to guide their business activities to meet economic value while protecting the environment and adding positive social impact to the society (Williams et al., 2017). Many organizations use the sustainability development theory principal constructs to foster best business practices to capture and increase economic value while also delivering a positive environmental and social impact to stakeholders and the society (Clayton & Radcliffe, 2018). As applied in this study, owners of SMEs should establish leadership strategies to ensure their business sustainability. All participants confirmed the TLT and SDT regarding the use of leadership strategies to improve the sustainability of their organizations. All participants' responses validated the application of TLT and SDT to ensure business sustainability.

The tenets of TLT and SDT aligned with the study objective of exploring the leadership strategies that owners of SMEs use to ensure the sustainability of their organizations. The owners of SMEs applied the principles of idealized behavior, intellectual stimulation, individualized consideration, inspirational motivation, economy, society, and the environment in ensuring the sustainability of their businesses. All participants used various leadership strategies involving employee engagement and quality of service, listening and communication, performance review and reward system,

and leadership style. As applied in this study, all participants applied TLT's and SDT's critical components to enhance their organizations' sustainability.

## **Applications to Professional Practice**

Identifying the leadership strategies that owners of SMEs use to sustain their business is crucial to the economy of developing countries, including Swaziland. About 70% of SMEs collapse in their first year of establishment in Africa, contributing to an increase in the unemployment rate such as experienced in Swaziland (Muriithi, 2017). Most governments are now paying more attention to SMEs' growth, development, and sustainability (Johnson & Schaltegger, 2016). All participants affirmed using a blend of leadership strategies to enhance the sustainability of their organizations. This study's findings could contribute to business practice by providing owners of SMEs in Swaziland with better knowledge and understanding of leadership strategies and practices needed for improved productivity, performance, and overall sustainability of their businesses. The findings from this study could contribute to the literature on SMEs and provide owners of SMEs with new insight regarding leadership strategies to ensure the sustainability of their firms. New and upcoming SME business owners may use the findings of this study to understand the leadership strategies and best practices for ensuring their organizational sustainability.

SMEs are known for their significant contribution to the economic development in Swaziland (Sridhar, 2020). Business practitioners and policymakers need to know the drivers and barriers to SMEs' sustainable business practices (Aghelie, 2017). The study results could help owners of SMEs gain an in-depth understanding of transformative

leadership strategies' role in business sustainability that gives due consideration to the economic, social, and environmental impact in society. The study findings might add value to the SME community through the dissemination of information which could significantly contribute to information sharing and networking among SME owners who seek leadership strategies to enhance their business sustainability. Some SMEs with weak leadership strategies may apply this study's findings to ensure their organization's sustainability. The study findings could significantly enhance SMEs' performance on leadership strategies to ensure business sustainability in Swaziland.

Business leaders in Swaziland should develop some appropriate strategies to minimize the failure rate of SMEs (Muriithi, 2017). Leaders of SMEs and other stakeholders in the organization need to understand the effect of identified drivers of sustainability and integrate and implement them to promote sustainable practices (Yadav et al., 2018). Based on the study findings, the most significant contribution to professional practice may be identifying potential leadership strategies that owners of SMEs use to ensure their organization's sustainability. Owners of SMEs could use this study results to understand the role of inappropriate leadership strategy on the high failure rate of SMEs survival beyond 2 years of the establishment to improve business practices. The knowledge gain on the leadership strategies for SME sustainability may enable SMEs to direct their limited resources to those areas critical to the sustainability of their businesses. All participants acknowledged that employee engagement and quality of service, listening and communication, performance review and reward system, and leadership style were fundamental to ensuring their organizational sustainability.

Business practitioners and the government should provide training for business leaders on appropriate leadership skills to improve the growth and sustainability of SMEs (Katarzyna & Joanna, 2016). The study findings may help organizational leaders, including governmental and non-governmental agencies, small business owners, and entrepreneurs, gain helpful information on strategies to enhance the sustainability of their organizations. These study findings could provide owners of SMEs with knowledge on how to use appropriate leadership strategies to ensure their business sustainability. Based on the study findings, the most significant contribution to professional practice may be providing a practical model for owners of SMEs to develop leadership strategies for enhancing their business sustainability. The practical model could serve as the basis for ensuring the sustainability of SMEs in Swaziland.

# **Implications for Social Change**

By implementing appropriate leadership strategies, SME business owners could contribute to sustainability, which may lead to job creation, improvement in employment rate, improved living conditions, social infrastructure development, and social well-being of the populace in the communities (Martinez-Conesa et al., 2017). By implementing excellent leadership strategies, owners of SMEs could ensure the sustainability of their firms. As illustrated in the study findings, leadership strategies might assist owners of SME businesses to sustain their business and continue to provide social amenities and educational empowerment to the local community. The implications for a positive social change for this study include promoting the growth and sustainability of SMEs, leading to job creation and income generation for economic growth in the society. With improved

business sustainability, owners of SMEs would pay more corporate taxes, which local and state governments could use to provide social amenities to the community.

Lack of appropriate leadership strategies by some business owners of SMEs affect SMEs 'sustainability and growth, which could result in a negative impact on job creation, income generation, and poverty reduction in emerging economies such as Swaziland (Madanchian & Taherdoost, 2017). Due to the surge in Swaziland's unemployment rate, many job seekers have become entrepreneurs who own SMEs and mostly depend on government and other developmental organizations for survival (Meyers, 2019). The study findings might contribute to positive social change by helping owners of SMEs to understand the challenges in the business sector and gain adequate knowledge of leadership strategies to enhance business sustainability. By sustaining their businesses, owners of SMEs would provide job opportunities to local citizens and promote economic growth in the local community. The application of the study findings could promote sustainability of SMEs resulting to improved living conditions, social infrastructure development, and social well-being of the populace.

An improvement in employment rate through the sustainability of SMEs may aid in meeting the corporate social responsibilities of SMEs in the communities (Martinez-Conesa et al., 2017). Policy makers should understand the implications of leadership strategies for SMEs' sustainability to meet its fundamental economic roles in employment creation, poverty alleviation, and entrepreneurial development in emerging economies (Muriithi, 2017). The implication for a positive social change for this study might also broaden SMEs sustainability knowledge thus promoting overall positive changes for the

society. The general public and global communities might learn from the leadership strategies that owners of SMEs use to ensure the sustainability of their organizations, which could inspire a positive social change in the perception of SMEs.

#### **Recommendations for Action**

An effective leadership strategy is crucial to enhancing business sustainability. The failure rate of SMEs has continuously increased due to such factors as lack of enabling environment, inappropriate leadership and management skills, and financial factors (Eikelenboom & de Jong, 2019; Olawale & Garwe, 2015). Because of the characteristic small-size of SMEs, the leaders' leadership style and behavior quickly permeate and influence the entire team's culture and performance (Muriithi, 2017; Nanjundeswaraswamy, 2015). I recommend that owners of SMEs should implement a combination of leadership strategies to ensure the sustainability of their organizations. I recommend that owners of SMEs should adopt employee engagement and quality of service to enhance their business sustainability.

The lack of appropriate leadership strategies affects the sustainability and growth of SMEs in emerging economies such as Swaziland (Madanchian & Taherdoost, 2017). The effective leadership strategies that leaders of SMEs use to manage their organization are significant drivers for improving employee performance and business growth and sustainability (Atan et al., 2019). An ineffective leadership style often impedes SMEs' operation and growth (Katarzyna & Joanna, 2016). I recommend that owners of SMEs should establish, implement, and maintain effective communication and listening process to ensure the sustainability of their organization. To sustain their businesses, I

recommend that owners of SMEs should establish guidelines for improving the performance review and reward system to enhance their business sustainability.

The government and business practitioners should train business leaders on the appropriate leadership skills for improving the growth and sustainability of their SMEs (Katarzyna & Joanna, 2016). Business leaders in Swaziland should adopt appropriate strategies to minimize the failure rate of SMEs (Muriithi, 2017). Most employees and stakeholders of SMEs support the organizations' procedures, practices, and processes that improve productivity and performance through transformative leadership and influencing skills (Kusi, et al., 2015). I recommend that owners of SMEs adopt appropriate leadership style to ensure the sustainability of their organizations.

Studies have shown that SMEs characteristically have a small number of employees, and that leadership style can easily permeate and influence employees and other stakeholders in the organization (Boukamcha, 2019). Most successful leaders of SMEs displayed an average level of leadership style that incline towards a transformational leadership style that can inspire employees to think and exceed expectations (Dzomonda et al., 2017). The study findings indicate that owners of SMEs use a blend of leadership strategies to enhance the sustainability of their organizations. I recommend that owners of SME should have adequate Knowledge, skills, and competency to identify the appropriate leadership strategies for enhancing their business sustainability. I will disseminate the findings of this study to interested groups through presentations at conferences, seminars, and training; sharing knowledge in my workplace, social media, and network; and publications in academic and business journals on SME.

## **Recommendations for Further Study**

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore the leadership strategies that owners of SMEs in Swaziland use to ensure the sustainability of their organizations. The study findings, recommendations, and conclusions might contribute to existing and future research and close gaps in business practice regarding leadership strategies that owners of SMEs use to enhance their business sustainability. Mihai et al. (2017) opined that factors such as the SME owners' organization and sex's age significantly impacted leadership styles and behaviors. This study was limited to cross-sectional, exploratory qualitative, multiple case study involving the use of semistructured interview to collect primary data from owners of SME in Swaziland. I recommend that future researchers should explore using longitudinal, quantitative or mixed methods, involving diverse participants from varying levels of management at different geographical locations.

Driving sustainability practice in SMEs must not be limited to business leaders and owners but should include other organizational stakeholders to understand the effects and impacts of sustainable business activities and practices on the economy, environment, and society (Davis & Boulet, 2016). A significant limitation of this study was the small sample size of four owners of SMEs from four regions in Swaziland. Researchers who use larger or smaller sample size could generate different themes which show significant differences in the study phenomenon. Therefore, I recommend further studies with larger sample size from various geographical locations such as Africa,

America, and Europe, which could provide useful insight on leadership strategies that owners of SMEs use to ensure the sustainability of their organizations.

Leaders of SMEs and other stakeholders in the organization need to understand the effect of identified drivers of sustainability and how they can integrate and implement them to promote sustainable practices (Yadav et al., 2018). Because I am a novice in academic research, my competency and knowledge of doctoral study are evolving. Therefore, the study was limited to my subjective evaluation and accurate interpretation of the participants' responses to the interview questions. Also, the study was limited to my personal beliefs and professional background with the topic involving the leadership strategies owners of SMEs use to enhance their business sustainability. Finally, the study was limited to the accuracy of information from the participants and the availability of archival data. I recommend that future researchers should comprise of experts from related multi-disciplines in SME sustainability to divulge some details I must have omitted in this doctoral study.

#### Reflections

The purpose of this qualitative multiple case study was to explore leadership strategies that some owners of SMEs in four regions of Swaziland use to ensure the sustainability of their organizations. In compliance to research ethics and Walden University IRB requirement, I completed the CITI web-based training and secured IRB approval before engaging the participants, which improved my understanding of the requirements for using human beings in the research study. I used emails and telephone to contact the participants, which provided me the opportunity to improve my

collaborative, empathy, inspirational, negotiation, innovation, and skills. Using the purposive sampling technique, I selected four owners of SMEs from four regions in Swaziland. The purposive sampling technique enabled me to select four owners of SMEs who had relevant competence, experience, training, and knowledge to answer the overarching research question.

In conducting this study, I used the qualitative research method to explore the leadership strategies that owners of SMEs in Swaziland use to enhance their business sustainability. I conducted semistructured interviews and interacted with the participants, which improved my communication, emotional intelligence, listening, observation, interpersonal, networking, self-confidence, inspirational, and problem-solving skills.

Because I interviewed the participants at their preferred time and date, they expressed themselves freely, which enabled me to gain an in-depth knowledge and understanding of the research problem. The organization and analysis of data enabled me to understand the research problem, to identify the themes and patterns, and establish the study findings. A reflection of my experiences in this study indicate that I gained a better understanding of the doctoral study research process, thereby improving my skills in conducting academic research work.

From the study findings, I gained an in-depth knowledge of the research problem from four owners of SMEs in four regions in Swaziland regarding their use of leadership strategies to ensure the sustainability of their organizations. I learnt that owners of SMEs use a blend of leadership strategies involving employee engagement and quality of service, listening and communication, performance review and reward system, and

leadership style to ensure the sustainability of their organizations. My new knowledge and understanding of the research problem positively changed my preconceived beliefs, ideas and values, personal bias and perceptions on leadership strategies owners of SMEs use to enhance the sustainability of their organizations.

### **Summary and Study Conclusions**

Owners of SMEs face challenges on how to use effective leadership strategies to ensure the sustainability of their organizations. This qualitative multiple case study aimed to use TLT and SDT to explore the leadership strategies that owners of SMEs use to enhance the sustainability of their organizations. I administered nine open-ended questions through semistructured interviews with four owners of SMEs within the four regions in Swaziland, to collect the primary data to answer the research question. The sources of secondary data included company archival documents and notes. The four themes that emerged from the thematic analysis of data were: (a) employee engagement and quality of service, (b) listening and communication, (c) performance review and reward system, and (d) leadership style. The study findings indicated that owners of SMEs used a blend of business strategies to enhance the sustainability of their organizations.

By implementing leadership strategies, owners of SMEs could sustain their businesses, thereby generating economic growth for local communities. With enhanced business sustainability, owners of SMEs would pay more corporate taxes, which local and regional governments could use to provide social amenities to the local citizens.

Also, ensuring the sustainability of their organizations might help owners of SMEs to

continue to provide job opportunities to the residents. The general public might learn from the study findings about leadership strategies owners of SMEs use to ensure the sustainability of their organizations. The use of TLT and SDT as lenses for this study involving owners of SMEs may fill a gap in the literature on SME sustainability strategies. The study findings align with previous scholars' conclusions regarding the need to implement effective leadership strategies to ensure the sustainability of SMEs.

#### References

- Abdalla, M., Oliveira, L. G. L., Azevedo, C. E. F., & Gonzalez, R. K. (2018). Quality in qualitative organizational research: Types of triangulation as a methodological alternative. *Administração: Ensino e Pesquisa*, 19(1), 66-98. https://doi:10.13058/raep.2018.v19n1.578
- Abdullah, A. G. K., Ling, Y. L., & Ping, C. S. (2017). Workplace happiness, transformational leadership, and affective commitment. *Advanced Science Letters*, 23(4), 2872-2875. https://doi.org/10.1166/asl.2017.7588
- Abisuga-Oyekunle, O. A., Patra, S. K., & Muchie, M. (2020). SMEs in sustainable development: Their role in poverty reduction and employment generation in Sub-Saharan Africa. *African Journal of Science, Technology, Innovation and Development*, 12(4), 405-419. https://doi.org/10.1080/20421338.2019.1656428
- Aghelie, A. (2017). Exploring drivers and barriers to sustainability green business practices within small medium sized enterprises: Primary findings. *International Journal of Business and Economic Development*, *5*(1), 41-48. https://ijbed.org/cdn/article\_file/content\_26562\_17-03-27-10-42-33.pdf
- Ahmed, R. (2017, August 17). Significance of communication and project management processes in public sector projects [Paper presentation]. 33rd International Academic Conference, Vienna, Austria.

  https://doi.org/10.20472/IAC.2017.33.002
- Ali, G. A., Hilman, H., & Gorondutse, A. H. (2017). The effect of entrepreneurial orientation, market orientation, total quality management and organizational

- culture on SMEs performance: A theoretical framework. *Journal of Business and Retail Management Research*, 12(1), 1-15.
- https://jbrmr.com/cdn/article\_file/content\_83851\_17-10-04-21-25-16.pdf
- Ali Mahdi, H. A., Abbas, M., Mazar, T. I., & George, S. (2015). A comparative analysis of strategies and business models of Nike, Inc. and Adidas Group with special reference to competitive advantage in the context of a dynamic and competitive environment. *International Journal of Business Management & Economic Research*, 6(3), 167-177. http://www.ijbmer.com/modir3-3.ir/article
- Al Mamun, A., Ibrahim, M., Yusoff, M., & Fazal, S. (2018). Entrepreneurial leadership, performance, and sustainability of micro-enterprises in Malaysia. *Sustainability*, 10(5), 15-23. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10051591
- Amaeshi, K., Adegbite, E., Ogbechie, C., Idemudia, U., Kan, K. A. S., Issa, M., & Anakwue, O. I. (2016). Corporate social responsibility in SMEs: A shift from philanthropy to institutional works. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *138*(2), 385-400. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-2633-1
- Ames, H., Glenton, C., & Lewin, S. (2019). Purposive sampling in a qualitative evidence synthesis: A worked example from a synthesis on parental perceptions of vaccination communication. *BMC Medical Research Methodology*, *19*(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1186/s12874-019-0665-4
- Appelbaum, M., Cooper, H., Kline, R. B., Mayo-Wilson, E., Nezu, A. M., & Rao, S. M. (2018). Journal article reporting standards for quantitative research in psychology:

- The APA Publications and Communications Board task force report. *American Psychologist*, 73, 3-25. https://doi:10.1037/amp0000191
- Appelbaum, S., Degbe, M., MacDonald, O., & Nguyeng-Quang, T. (2015).
  Organizational outcomes of leadership style and resistance to change (Part one).
  Industrial and Commercial Training, 47(2), 73-80. https://doi.org/10.1108/ICT-07-2013-0044
- Arbussa, A., Bikfalvi, A., & Marquès, P. (2017). Strategic agility-driven business model renewal: The case of SMEs. *Management Decision*, 55 (2), 271-293. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-05-2016-0355
- Asah, F., Fatoki, O., & Rungani, E. (2015). The impact of motivations, personal values and management skills on the performance of SMEs in South Africa. *African Journal of Economic and Management Studies*, 6(3), 308-322. https://doi.org/10.1108/AJEMS-01-2013-0009
- Atan, J., Hasnaa, N., & Mahmood, N. (2019). The role of transformational leadership style in enhancing employees' competency for organization performance.

  \*Management Science Letters, 13(2), 21-29.\*

  https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2019.7.033
- Atkinson, P., & Morriss, L. (2017). On ethnographic knowledge. *Qualitative Inquiry*, 23, 323-331. https://doi:10.1177/1077800416655825
- Azim, M., Fan, L., Uddin, M., Jilani, M., & Begum, S. (2019). Linking transformational leadership with employees' engagement in the creative process. *Management Research Review*, 42(7), 837-858. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-08-2018-0286

- Barrett, D., & Twycross, A. (2018). Data collection in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nursing*, 21(1), 63-64. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2018-102939
- Bass, B. M. (1985). Leadership and performance beyond expectations. Free Press.
- Bass, B. M. (1997). Does the transactional-transformational leadership paradigm transcend organizational and national boundaries? *American Psychologist*, *52*(2), 130-139. https://doi.org/10.1037/0003-066X.52.2.130
- Bass, B. M. (1999). Two decades of research and development in transformational leadership. *European Journal of Work and Organizational Psychology*, 8(1), 9-32. https://doi.org/10.1080/135943299398410
- Bass, B. M., & Avolio, B. J. (1994). Improving organizational effectiveness through transformational leadership. Sage Publications.
- Bell, L. W., Hayes, R. C., Pembleton, K. G., & Waters, C. M. (2019). Diversity, trends, opportunities, and challenges in Australian grasslands—meeting the sustainability and productivity imperatives of the future?. *Proceedings of the 22nd International Grasslands Congress*, 28-43. https://uknowledge.uky.edu/igc/22/plenary/4/
- Belmont Report. (1979). The Belmont Report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects of research.
  - http://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- Bengtsson, M. (2016). How to plan and perform a qualitative study using content analysis. *Nursing Plus Open*, 2(3), 8-14. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.npls.2016.01.001

- Bimha, H., Dlamini, X., Ndwandwe, L., Sridhar, P., Mhlanga, S. P., Nkambule, N., & Sbisi, P. (2018). Challenges faced by women entrepreneurs in small and medium enterprises in Swaziland. *Indian Journal of Commerce and Management Studies*, 9(2), 85-95. https://doi.org/10.18843/ijcms/v9i2/10
- Boddy, C. R. (2016). Sample size for qualitative research. *Qualitative Market Research:*An International Journal, 19, 426-432. https://doi.org/10.1108/QMR-06-2016-0053
- Boukamcha, F. (2019). The effect of transformational leadership on corporate entrepreneurship in Tunisian SMEs. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, 40(3), 286-304. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-07-2018-0262
- Brenner, B. (2018). Transformative sustainable business models in the light of the digital imperative: A global business economics perspective. *Sustainability*, *10*(12), 4-25. https://doi.org/10.3390/su10124428
- Brown, A. W., Kaiser, K. A., & Allison, D. B. (2018). Issues with data and analyses:

  Errors, underlying themes, and potential solutions. *Proceedings of the National Academy of Sciences*, *115*, 2563-2570. https://doi:10.1073/pnas.1708279115
- Brundtland, G. H. (1987). Our common future-Call for action. *Environmental Conservation*, 14(4), 291-294. https://doi.org/10.1017/S0376892900016805
- Bryman, A. (2016). Social research methods (5th ed.). Oxford University Press.
- Bryson, J. M. (2004). Strategic planning for public and nonprofit organizations: A guide to strengthening and sustaining organizational achievement (3rd ed.). JosseyBass.

- Buli, B. (2017). Entrepreneurial orientation, market orientation, and performance of SMEs in the manufacturing industry. *Management Research Review*, 40(3), 292-309. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-07-2016-0173
- Burawat, P. (2019). The relationships among transformational leadership, sustainable leadership, lean manufacturing and sustainability performance in Thai SMEs manufacturing industry. *International Journal of Quality & Reliability*Management, 36(6), 1014-1036. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJQRM-09-2017-0178
- Burns, J. M. (1978). Leadership. Harper
- Carcone, D., Tokarz, V. L., & Ruocco, A. C. (2015). A systematic review on the reliability and validity of semi-structured diagnostic interviews for borderline personality disorder. *Canadian Psychology*, *56*, 208-226. https://doi.org/10.1037/cap0000026
- CBS. (2016). 2015-2016 Annual report, Mbabane: *Central bank of Swaziland* (CBS). https://www.centralbank.org.sz/about/annual/2015-2016.pdf
- Ceptureanu, E. G., & Ceptureanu, S. I. (2019). The impact of adoptive management innovations on medium-sized enterprises from a dynamic capability perspective. *Technology Analysis & Strategic Management*, 23(2), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1080/09537325.2019.1587160
- Chenail, R. J. (2011). Interviewing the investigator: Strategies for addressing instrumentation and researcher bias concerns in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 16(1), 255-202. http://tqr.nova.edu/

- Chesser, S., Porter, M. M., & Tuckett, A. G. (2019). Cultivating citizen science for all:

  Ethical considerations for research projects involving diverse and marginalized populations. *International Journal of Social Research Methodology*, 1-12. https://doi.org/10.1080/13645579.2019.1704355
- Choudhary, P., & Srivastava, R. K. (2019). Sustainability perspectives-a review for solar photovoltaic trends and growth opportunities. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 227(4), 589-612. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.04.107
- Cibangu, S. K., & Hepworth, M. (2016). The uses of phenomenology and phenomenography: A critical review. *Library & Information Science Research*, 38 (2), 148-160. https://doi:10.1016/j.lisr.2016.05.001
- Clayton, T., & Radcliffe, N. (2018). Sustainability: A systems approach. London:

  Routledge. https://doi.org/10.4324/9781315070711al
- Collins, C. S., & Stockton, C. M. (2018). The central role of theory in qualitative research. *International Journal of Qualitative Methods*, *17*(1), 1-10. https://doi.org/10.1177/1609406918797475
- Colorafi, K. J., & Evans, B. (2016). Qualitative descriptive methods in health science research. *Health Environments Research & Design Journal*, 9, 16-25. https://doi:10.1177/1937586715614171
- Corlett, S., & Mavin, S. (2018). Reflexivity and researcher positionality. The SAGE handbook of qualitative business and management research methods. Sage Publications.

- Creswell, J. W., & Poth, C. N. (2017). Quantitative inquiry and research design:

  Choosing among five approaches. Sage Publications.
- Cronin, C. (2014). Using case study research as a rigorous form of inquiry. *Nurse Researcher*, 21(5), 19-27. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.21.5.19.e1240
- Cruz, R. F., & Tantia, J. F. (2017). Reading and understanding qualitative research.

  \*American Journal of Dance Therapy, 39(1), 79-92.\*

  https://doi.org/10.1007/s10465-016-9219-z
- CSO. (2015). National accounts: 2011 benchmark estimates, Mbabane: *Swaziland Central Statistics Office (CSO)*. http://www.gov.sz/index.php/departments-sp388544304/78-economic-planning-a-development/economic-planning-a-development/687-central-statistics-office
- Cypress, B. S. E. (2017). Rigor or reliability and validity in qualitative research:

  Perspectives, strategies, reconceptualization, and recommendations. *Dimensions of Critical Care Nursing*, *36*, 253-263.

  https://doi:10.1097/DCC.0000000000000253
- Daher, M., Olivares, H., Carré, D., Jaramillo, A., & Tomicic, A. (2017). Experience and meaning in qualitative research: A conceptual review and a methodological device proposal. *In Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung/Forum: Qualitative Sozial Research*, 18(3), 24-48. https://doi:10.17169/fqs-18.3.2696
- Daneault, S. (2018). The essential role of qualitative research in building knowledge on health. *Anaesthesia Critical Care & Pain Medicine*, *37*, 105-107. https://doi:10.1016/j.accpm.2018.02.005

- Davis, K., & Boulet, M. (2016). Transformations? Skilled change agents influencing organizational sustainability culture. *Australian Journal of Environmental Education*, 32(1), 109-123. https://doi.org/10.1017/aee.2015.51
- Dekas, K., & McCune, E. A. (2015). Conducting ethical research with big and small data: Key questions for practitioners. *Industrial & Organizational Psychology*, 8, 563-567. https://doi:10.1017/iop.2015.84
- Denzin, N. K., & Lincoln, Y. S. (2018). *The Sage handbook of qualitative research* (5th ed.). Sage.
- Dikko, M. (2016). Establishing construct validity and reliability: Pilot testing of a qualitative interview for research in Takaful (Islamic insurance). *The Qualitative Report*, 21(1), 521-528. https://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol21/iss3/6
- Dinh, J. E., Lord, R. G., Gardner, W. L., Meuser, J. D., Liden, R. C., & Hu, J. (2014).

  Leadership theory and research in the new millennium: Current theoretical trends and changing perspectives. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 25(1), 36-62.

  https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2013.11.005
- Domínguez-Escrig, E., Mallén-Broch, F., & Lapiedra-Alcamí, R. (2018). The influence of leaders' stewardship behavior on innovation success: The mediating effect of radical innovation. *Journal of Business Ethics*, 8(1), 1-14. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-018-3833-2
- dos Santos Santiago, A. M., Robinson, P. K., & Andrade, J. C. S. (2018). Corporate social responsibility: An approach to peace. *African Journal of Business Management*, 12, 692-701. https://doi.org/10.5897/AJBM2018.8613

- Doyle, E., & Buckley, P. (2017). Embracing qualitative research: A visual model for nuanced research ethics oversight. *Qualitative Research*, *17*(1), 95-117. https://doi.org/10.1177/1468794116661230
- Duygulu, E., Ozeren, E., Işıldar, P., & Appolloni, A. (2016). The sustainable strategy for small and medium sized enterprises: The relationship between mission statements and performance. *Sustainability*, 8(7), 698-714. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8070698
- Dziedzic, A. (2019). Safety of labor market management. *World Scientific News*, *123*, 14-28. http://www.worldscientificnews.com/
- Dzomonda, O., Fatoki, O., & Oni, O. (2017). The impact of leadership styles on the entrepreneurial orientation of small and medium enterprises in South Africa. *Journal of Economics and Behavioral Studies*, 9(2), 104-113. https://doi.org/10.22610/jebs.v9i2.1654
- Eikelenboom, M., & de Jong, G. (2019). The impact of dynamic capabilities on the sustainability performance of SMEs. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 235, 1360-1370. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2019.07.013
- Ellis, T. J., & Levy, Y. (2009). Towards a guide for novice researchers on research methodology: Review and proposed methods. *Issues in Informing Science & Information Technology*, 6, 323-337. https://doi.org/10.28945/3325
- Eniola, A. A., & Entebang, H. (2017). SME managers and financial literacy. *Global Business Review*, 18(3), 559-576. https://doi:10.1177/0972150917692063

- Epstein, M. J., & Buhovac, A. R. (2014). *Making sustainability work: Best practices in managing and measuring corporate social, environmental, and economic impacts* (2nd ed.). Berrett-Koehler.
- Escrivão Filho, E., Albuquerque, A. F., Nagano, M. S., Junior, L. A. P., & de Oliveira, J. (2017). Identifying SME mortality factors in the life cycle stages: An empirical approach of relevant factors for small business owner-managers in Brazil. *Journal of Global Entrepreneurship Research*, 7(5), 1-15. https://doi.org/10.1186/s40497-017-0064-4
- Esposito, J., Kaufmann, J., & Evans-Winters, V. (2018). Ethical quandaries: Qualitative research in a neoliberal age. *International Review of Qualitative Research*, 11(1), 116-131. https://doi.org/10.1525/irqr.2018.11.1.116
- Etikan, I., & Bala, K. (2017). Sampling and sampling methods. *Biometrics & Biostatistics International Journal*, *5*(6), 215-217. https://doi.org/10.15406/bbij.2017.05.00149
- Falle, S., Rauter, R., Engert, S., & Baumgartner, R. (2016). Sustainability management with the sustainability balanced scorecard in SMEs: Findings from an Austrian case study. *Sustainability*, 8(6), 5-45. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8060545
- Fatoki, O. (2015). The causes of the failure of new small and medium enterprises in South Africa. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 5(20), 922-927. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2014.v5n20p922

- Fatoki, O. (2018). The impact of entrepreneurial resilience on the success of small and medium enterprises in South Africa. Sustainability, 10(7), 25-27. http://doi.org/10.3390/su10072527
- Faupel, S., & Süß, S. (2019). The effect of transformational leadership on employees during organizational change an empirical analysis. *Journal of Change Management*, 19(3), 145-166. https://doi.org/10.1080/14697017.2018.1447006
- Florczak, K. L. (2017). Adding to the truth of the matter: The case for qualitative research. *Nursing Science Quarterly*, *30*, 296-299. https://doi:10.1177/08943184177244
- Fouché, C. B., & Chubb, L. A. (2017). Action researchers encountering ethical review: A literature synthesis on challenges and strategies. *Educational Action Research*, 25(1), 23-34. https://doi:10.1080/09650792.2015.1128956
- Franco, F., & Matos, P. G. (2015). Leadership styles in SMEs: A mixed method approach. *International Entrepreneurship and Management*, 11(2), 425-451. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-013-0283-2
- Freeman, R. E. (2010). *Strategic management: A stakeholder approach*. Cambridge University Press.
- Freeman, R. E. (2015). Stakeholder theory. *Wiley Encyclopedia of Management*, 1-6. https://doi.org/10.1002/9781118785317.weom020179
- Freudenreich, B., Lüdeke-Freund, F., & Schaltegger, S. (2019). A stakeholder theory perspective on business models: Value creation for sustainability. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *16*(6), 3-18. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-019-04112-z

- Fusch, P. I., & Ness, L. R. (2015). Are we there yet? Data saturation in qualitative research. *The Qualitative Report*, 20(1), 1408-1416. http://nsuworks.nova.edu/tqr/vol20/iss9/3
- Garavan, T., Watson, S., Carbery, R., & O'Brien, F. (2016). The antecedents of leadership development practices in SMEs: The influence of HRM strategy and practice. *International Small Business Journal*, *34*(6), 870-890. https://doi.org/10.1177/0266242615594215
- Garrido, G., Vazzoler, M. A., & Antonio, S. M. (2018). Organizational learning and human motivation: A systemically represented relationship. *Brazilian Journal of Management / Revista de Administração Da UFSM*, 11(4), 1222-1239. https://doi.org/10.5902/1983465922432
- Georgalis, J., Samaratunge, R., Kimberley, N., & Lu, Y. (2015). Change process characteristics and resistance to organizational change: The role of employee perceptions of justice. *Australian Journal of Management*, 40(1), 89-113. https://doi.org/10.1177/0312896214526212
- Gergen, K. J., Josselson, R., & Freeman, M. (2015). The promises of qualitative inquiry.

  \*American Psychologist, 70(1), 1-9. https://doi.org/10.1037/a0038597
- Gianni, M., Gotzamani, K., & Tsiotras, G. (2017). Multiple perspectives on integrated management systems and corporate sustainability performance. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, *16*(4), 1297-1311. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.09.061

- Gomes, S., & Duarte, V. (2018). What about ethics? Developing qualitative research in confinement settings. *European Journal of Criminology*, *17*(4), 461-479. https://doi.org/10.1177/1477370818801305
- Goswami, A., Nair, P., Beehr, T., & Grossenbacher, M. (2016). The relationship of leaders' humor and employees' work engagement mediated by positive emotions: Moderating effect of leaders' transformational leadership style. *Leadership & Organization Development Journal*, *37*(8), 1083-1099. https://doi.org/10.1108/LODJ-01-2015-0001
- Gross, R. (2016). Towards an understanding of the relationship between leadership styles and strategic thinking: A small and medium enterprise perspective. *Journal of Business Studies Quarterly*, 8(2), 22-39. http://jbsq.org/
- Guver, S., & Motschnig, R. (2017). Effects of diversity in teams and workgroups: A qualitative systematic review. *International Journal of Business, Humanities, and Technology*, 7(2), 6-34. http://www.ijbhtnet.com
- Hadi, M. A., & Closs, S. J. (2016). Ensuring rigour and trustworthiness of qualitative research in clinical pharmacy. *International Journal of Clinical Pharmacy*, 38, 641-646. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11096-015-0237-6
- Hadidi, N., Lindquist, R., Treat-Jacobson, D., & Swanson, P. (2013). Participant withdrawal: Challenges and practical solutions for recruitment and retention in clinical trials. *Creative Nursing*, 19, 37-41. https://doi.org/10.1891/1078-4535.19.1.37

- Hahn, T., Preuss, L., Pinkse, J., & Figge, F. (2014). Cognitive frames in corporate sustainability: Managerial sensemaking with paradoxical and business case frames. *Academy of Management Review*, *39*(2), 463-487. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2012.0341
- Hansen, M., Ishengoma, E., & Upadhyaya, R. (2018). What constitutes successful African enterprises? A survey of performance variations in 210 African food processors. *International Journal of Emerging Markets*, *13*(6) 1835-1854. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJoEM-03-2017-0101
- Hashmi, M., Damanhouri, A., & Rana, D. (2015). Evaluation of sustainability practices in the United States and large corporations. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *127*(2), 673-681. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-014-2056-4
- Head, G. (2018). Ethics in educational research: Review boards, ethical issues, and researcher development. *European Educational Research Journal*, 19(1), 72-83. https://doi.org/10.1177/1474904118796315
- Heizmann, H., & Liu, H. (2018). Becoming green, becoming leaders: Identity narratives in sustainability leadership development. *Management Learning*, 49(1), 40-58. https://doi.org/10.1177/130507617725189
- Hesse, A., Glenna, L., Hinrichs, C., Chiles, R., & Sachs, C. (2019). Qualitative research ethics in the big data era. *American Behavioral Scientist*, *63*(5), 560-583. https://doi.org/10.1177/0002764218805806

- Hlophe, T. G., & Dlamini, T. S. (2017). *Mapping the national system of innovation in Swaziland*. http://www.separc.co.sz/wp-content/uploads/2018/06/National-System-of-Innovation-1.pdf
- Houghton, C., Murphy, K., Shaw, D., & Casey, D. (2015). Qualitative case study data analysis: An example from practice. *Nurse Researcher*, 22(5), 8-12. https://doi.org/10.7748/nr.22.5.8.e1307
- Howard, T. L., Ulferts, G. W., & Hannon, J. (2019). Leadership styles of small business owners: Linking theory to application. *Journal of Leadership, Accountability and Ethics*, *16*(2), 47-55. https://doi.org/10.33423/jlae.v16i2.2021
- Iivari, N. (2018). Using member checking in interpretive research practice. *Information Technology & People*, *31*(1), 111-133. https://doi.org/10.1108/itp-07-2016-0168
- Jahanshahi, A. A., & Brem, A. (2017). Sustainability in SMEs: Top management teams behavioral integration as a source of innovativeness. *Sustainability*, 9(10), 32-47. https://doi.org/10.3390/su9101899
- Jansson, J., Nilsson, J., Modig, F., & Vall, G. H. (2015). Commitment to sustainability in small and medium-sized enterprises: The influence of strategic orientations and management values. *Business, Strategy, & Environment*, 26(1), 69-83. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1901
- Jina, S., Seo, M., & Shapiro, D. L. (2015). Do happy leaders lead better? Affective and attitudinal antecedents of transformational leadership. *The Leadership Quarterly*, 27, 64-84. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.leaqua.2015.09.002

- Johnson, M. P., & Schaltegger, S. (2016). Two decades of sustainability management tools for SMEs: How far have we come? *Journal of Small Business*Management, 54(2), 481-505. https://doi.org/10.1111/jsbm.12154
- Jones, P., Maas, G., Dobson, S., Newbery, R., Agyapong, D. and Matlay, H. (2018).
  Entrepreneurship in Africa, Part 3: Conclusions on African
  entrepreneurship. *Journal of Small Business and Enterprise Development*, 25(5),
  706-709. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-10-2018-401
- Jones, T. M., Harrison, J. S., & Felps, W. (2018). How applying instrumental stakeholder theory can provide sustainable competitive advantage. *Academy of Management Review*, 43(3), 371-391. https://doi.org/10.5465/amr.2016.0111
- Juarez, L. E. V. (2017). Corporate social responsibility: Its effects on SMEs. *Journal of Management & Sustainability*, 7(3), 75-80. https://doi.org/10.5539/jms.v7n3p75
- Katarzyna, S. W., & Joanna, K.P. (2016). Sustainable business development through leadership in SMEs. *Economics and Management*, 8(3), 57-69. https://doi.org/10.1515/emj-2016-0024
- Kegler, M. C., Raskind, I. G., Comeau, D. L., Griffith, D. M., Cooper, H. L. F., & Shelton, R. C. (2019). Study design and use of inquiry frameworks in qualitative research published in *Health Education & Behavior*. *Health Education & Behavior*, 46, 24-31. https://doi:10.1177/1090198118795018
- Ketefian, S. (2015). Ethical considerations in research: Focus on vulnerable groups.Investigación y Educación en Enfelbetaermería, 33(1), 164-172.https://doi:10.17533/udea.iee.v33n1a19

- Khaldi, K. (2017). Quantitative, qualitative, or mixed research: Which research paradigm to use? *Journal of Educational and Social Research*, 7(2), 15-24. https://doi:10.5901/jesr.2017.v7n2p15
- Khalili, A. (2016). Linking transformational leadership, creativity, innovation, and innovation-supportive climate. *Management Decision*, *54*(9), 2277-2293. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-03-2016-0196
- Kihn, L., & Ihantola, E. (2015). Approaches to validation and evaluation in qualitative studies of management accounting. *Qualitative Research in Accounting & Management*, 12(1), 230-255. https://doi.org/10.1109/QRAM-03-2013-0012
- Kim, H., Sefcik, J. S., & Bradway, C. (2017). Characteristics of qualitative descriptive studies: A systematic review. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 40(1), 23-42. https://doi.org/10.1002/nur.21768
- Klenke, K. (2016). *Qualitative research in the study of leadership*, Emerald Group Publishing Limited. https://doi.org/10.1108/978-1-78560-651-920152003
- Kornbluh, M. (2015). Combatting challenges to establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *12*, 397-414. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2015.1021941
- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2017). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research.

  Trustworthiness and publishing, *European Journal of General Practice*, 1381(1), 1-5. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092

- Korstjens, I., & Moser, A. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part

  4: Trustworthiness and publishing. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24,

  120-124. https://doi:10.1080/13814788.2017.1375092
- Kraft, S. A., Duenas, D. M., Kublin, J. G., Shipman, K. J., Murphy, S. C., & Shah, S. K. (2019). Exploring ethical concerns about human challenge studies: A qualitative study of controlled human malaria infection study participants' motivations and attitudes. *Journal of Empirical Research on Human Research Ethics*, 14(1), 49-60. https://doi.org/10.1177/1556264618820219
- Kusi, A., Opata, C., & Narh, T. (2015). Exploring the factors that hinder the growth and survival of small businesses in Ghana: A case study of small businesses within
   Kumasi metropolitan area. American Journal of Industrial and Business
   Management, 5(11),705-723. https://doi.org/10.4236/ajibm.2015.511
- Kylili, A., & Fokaides, P. A. (2017). Policy trends for the sustainability assessment of construction materials: A review. *Sustainable Cities and Society*, 35, 280-288. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.scs.2017.08.013
- Langwell, C., & Heaton, D. (2016). Using human resource activities to implement sustainability in SMEs. *Journal of small business and enterprise*development, 23(3), 652-670. https://doi.org/10.1108/JSBED-07-2015-0096
- Larrinaga, O. (2017). Is it desirable, necessary, and possible to perform research using case studies? *Cuadernos de Gestion*, *17*(1), 147-171. https://doi.org/10.5295/cdg.140516ov

- Larteb, Y., Haddout, A., Benhadou, M., Manufacturing, L., Yang, C., Yeh, T., & Valero, M. (2015). Successful lean implementation: The systematic and simultaneous consideration of soft and hard lean practices. *International Journal of Engineering Research and General Science*, 3(2), 1258-1270. http://ijergs.org/
- Le Pennec, M., & Raufflet, E. (2018). Value Creation in inter-organizational collaboration: An empirical study. *Journal of Business Ethics*, *148*(4), 817-834. https://doi.org/10.1007/s10551-015-3012-7
- Leung, L. (2015). Validity, reliability, and generalizability in qualitative research.

  \*\*Journal of Family Medicine and Primary Care, 4(1), 324-327.\*\*

  https://doi.org/10.4103/22494863.161306
- Li, V., Mitchel, R., & Boyle, B. (2016). The divergent effects of transformational leadership on individual and team innovation. *Group & Organization*Management, 41(1), 66-97. https://doi.org/10.1177/1059601115573792
- Lim, J. S., & Greenwood, C. A. (2017). Communicating corporate social responsibility (CSR): Stakeholder responsiveness and engagement strategy to achieve CSR goals. *Public Relations Review*, *43*(2), 768-776. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2017.06.007
- Lindlof, T. R., & Tylor, B. C. (2019). Sensemaking I: Analyzing, coding, and managing data. *Qualitative Communication Research Methods* (4th ed.). Sage.
- Long, C. S., Yong, L. Z., & Chuen, T. W. (2016). Analysis of the relationship between leadership styles and affective organizational commitment. *International Journal*

- of Management, Accounting, and Economics, 3(10), 572-598. http://www.ijmae.com/
- López-Pérez, M. E., Melero-Polo, I., Vázquez-Carrasco, R., & Cambra-Fierro, J. (2018).

  Sustainability and business outcomes in the context of SMEs: Comparing family firms vs. non-family firms. *Sustainability*, *10*(11), 40-56.

  https://doi.org/10.3390/su10114080
- Lowe, A., Norris, A. C., Farris, A. J., & Babbage, D. R. (2018). Quantifying thematic saturation in qualitative data analysis. *Field Methods*, *30*, 191-207. https://doi.org/10.1177/1525822X17749386
- Lune, H., & Berg, B. L. (2017). *Qualitative research methods for the social sciences*.

  Pearson.
- Madanchian, M., Hussein, N., Noordin, F., & Taherdoost, H. (2016). The relationship between ethical leadership, leadership effectiveness and organizational performance: A review of literature in SMEs context. *European Business & Management*, 2(2), 17-21. https://doi.org/10.11648/j.ebm.20160202.11
- Madanchian, M. I. T. R. A., & Taherdoost, H. (2017). Role of leadership in small and medium enterprises (SMEs). *Journal of Economics and Management Systems*, 2(12), 240-243. http://www.iaras.org/iaras/journals/ijems
- Madueno, J. H., Jorge, M. L., Conesa, I. M., & Martínez-Martínez, D. (2016).

  Relationship between corporate social responsibility and competitive performance in Spanish SMEs: Empirical evidence from a stakeholders' perspective. *BRQ*

- Business Research Quarterly, 19(1), 55-72. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.brq.2015.06.002
- Majid, I. A., Latif, A., & Koe, W. L. (2017). SMEs' intention towards sustainable entrepreneurship. *European Journal of Multidisciplinary Studies*, 2(3), 24-32. https://doi.org/10.26417/ejms.v4i3.p24-32
- Maladzhi, W. R. (2015). Impact of risk-taking leadership on organizational performance and sustainability in SMEs. *International Conference on Industrial Engineering and Engineering Management*, 4(2), 1752-1756.

  https://doi.org/10.1109/IEEM.2015.7385948
- Manzoor, F., Wei, L., Nurunnabi, M., Subhan, Q. A., Shah, S. I. A., & Fallatah, S.
  (2019). The impact of transformational leadership on job performance and CSR as mediator in SMEs. *Sustainability*, 11(2), 14-36. MDPI AG.
  https://doi.org/10.3390/su11020436
- Maria, K. (2015). Combatting challenges to establishing trustworthiness in qualitative research. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, *12*, 397-414. https://doi.org/10.1080/14780887.2015.1021941
- Marshall, C., & Rossman, G. (2016). *Designing qualitative research* (6th ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.
- Martinez-Conesa, I., Soto-Acosta, P., & Palacios-Manzano, M. (2017). Corporate social responsibility and its effect on innovation and firm performance: An empirical research in SMEs. *Journal of cleaner production*, *142*(4), 2374-2383. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2016.11.038

- Martínez-Martínez, D., Herrera-Madueno, J., Larran-Jorge, M., & Lechuga-Sancho, M.
  P. (2017). The strategic nature of corporate social responsibility in SMEs: A multiple mediator analysis. *Industrial Management & Data Systems*, 117(1), 2-31. https://doi.org/10.1108/IMDS-07-2015-0315
- Masa'deh, R., Obeidat, B. Y., & Tarhini, A. (2016). A Jordanian empirical study of the associations among transformational leadership, transactional leadership, knowledge sharing, job performance, and firm performance: A structural equation modelling approach. *Journal of Management Development*, 35(5), 681-705. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-09-2015-0134
- Mehrabani, S. E., & Mohamad, N. A. (2015). New approach to leadership skills development (developing a model and measure). *Journal of Management Development*, 34, 821-853. https://doi.org/10.1108/JMD-03-2013-0046
- Merriam, S. B., & Grenier, R. S. (Eds.). (2019). *Qualitative research in practice:*Examples for discussion and analysis. John Wiley & Sons.
- Merriam, S. B., & Tisdell, E. J. (2016). *Qualitative research: A guide to design and implementation* (4th ed.). Jossey-Bass.
- Meyers, K. F. (2019). Ensuring employability and widening access: The case of the University of Eswatini. http://oasis.col.org/handle/11599/3396
- Mkheimer, I. (2018). The impact of leadership styles on business success: A case study on SMEs in Amman. *Arabian Journal of Business and Management Review*, 8(2), 1-9.
  - https://www.researchgate.net/profile/Ibrahim\_Mkheimer/publication/327231158\_

- Arabian\_Journal\_of\_Business\_and\_Management\_Review/links/5b826ec292851c 1e123354b4/Arabian-Journal-of-Business-and-Management-Review.pdf
- Mihai, L., Schiopoiu Burlea, A., & Mihai, M. (2017). Comparison of the leadership styles practiced by Romanian and Dutch SME owners. *International Journal of Organizational Leadership*, 6(5), 4-16. https://ssrn.com/abstract=3333054
- Ministry of Commerce, Industry, and Trade. (2015). *National Labour Survey*. http://www.sedco.biz/index.php
- Mittal, S. (2016). Effects of transformational leadership on turnover intentions in IT SMEs. *International Journal of Manpower*, 37(8), 1322-1346. https://doi.org/10.1108/IJM-10-2014-0202
- Morse, J. M., & Coulehan, J. (2015). Maintaining confidentiality in qualitative publications. *Qualitative Health Research*, 25, 151-152. https://doi.org/10.1177/1049732314563489
- Moser, A., & Korstjens, I. (2018). Series: Practical guidance to qualitative research. Part 3: Sampling, data collection and analysis. *European Journal of General Practice*, 24(1), 9-18. https://doi.org/10.1080/13814788.2017.1375091
- Mousiolis, D. T., Zaridis, A. D., Karamanis, K., & Rontogianni, A. (2015). Corporate social responsibility in SMEs and MNEs. The different strategic decision making. *Procedia-Social and Behavioral Sciences*, 175(2), 579-583. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.sbspro.2015.01.1240

- Muenjohn, N., & McMurray, A. (2016). The impact of leadership on workplace innovation in Thai and Vietnamese SMES. *The Journal of Developing*Areas, 50(5), 479-486. https://doi.org/10.1353/jda.2016.0045
- Muenjohn, N., & McMurray, A. (2017). Design leadership, work values ethic and workplace innovation: An investigation of SMEs in Thailand and Vietnam. *Asia Pacific Business Review*, 23(2), 192-204. https://doi.org/10.1080/13602381.2017.1281642
- Mui, H. K. Y., Basit, A., & Hassan, Z. (2018). The impact of strategic leadership on organizational performance of small-medium enterprises (SME) in Malaysia.

  \*\*Journal of Leadership and Management, 13(9), 154-166.\*\*

  http://www.leadership.net.pl/
- Mulder, J., & de Bruijne, M. (2019). Willingness of online respondents to participate in alternative modes of data collection. *Survey. Practice*, *12*(1), 1-11. https://doi.org/10.29115/SP-2019-0001
- Muriithi, S. (2017). African small and medium enterprises (SMEs) contributions, challenges and solutions. *European Journal of Research and Reflection in Management Sciences*, 5(1), 36-48. http://www.idpublications.org/european-journal-of-research-and-reflection-in-management-sciences/
- Nanjundeswaraswamy, T. (2015). Leadership styles and quality of work life in SMEs. *Management Science Letters*, *5*(1), 65-78. https://doi.org/10.5267/j.msl.2014.12.006

- Nazir, J. (2016). Using phenomenology to conduct environmental education research: Experience and issues. *The Journal of Environmental Education*, 47, 179-190. https://doi:10.1080/00958964.2015.1063473
- Newman, A., & Glass, R. D. (2014). Comparing ethical and epistemic standards for researchers: Why working for a university matters. *The Journal of Higher Education*, 85, 283-311. https://doi:10.1353/jhe.2014.0013
- Ng, H. S., & Kee, D. M. H. (2018). The core competence of successful owner-managed SMEs. *Management Decision*, 56(1), 252-272. https://doi.org/10.1108/MD-12-2016-0877
- Ng, H. S., Kee, D. M. H., & Ramayah, T. (2016). The role of transformational leadership, entrepreneurial competence and technical competence on enterprise success of owner-managed SMEs. *Journal of General Management*, 42(1), 23-43. https://doi.org/10.1177/030630701604200103
- Ngah, R., Abd Wahab, I., & Salleh, Z. (2015). The sustainable competitive advantage of small and medium enterprises (SMEs) with intellectual capital, knowledge management, and innovative intelligence: Building a conceptual framework. *Advanced Science Letters*, 21(5), 1325-1328. https://doi.org/10.1166/asl.2015.6018
- Ngibe, M., & Lekhanya, L. M. (2019). Critical factors influencing innovative leadership in attaining business innovation: A case of manufacturing SMEs in KwaZulu-Natal. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 23(2), 1-18. https://www.abacademies.org/articles/critical-factors-influencing-innovative-

- leadership-in-attaining-business-innovation-a-case-of-manufacturing-smes-in-kwazulunatal-8342.html
- Noble, H., & Smith, J. (2015). Issues of validity and reliability in qualitative research. *Evidence-Based Nurs*ing, 18(2), 34-35. https://doi.org/10.1136/eb-2015-102054
- Northouse, P. G. (2016). Leadership: Theory and practice (7th ed.). Sage.
- OECD. (2017). Enhancing the Contributions of SMEs in a Global and Digitalized

  Economy. Meeting of the OECD council at ministerial level Paris, 7-8 June, 2017.

  https://www.oecd.org
- Ogarcă, R., Crăciun, L., & Mihai, L. (2016). Leadership styles in SMEs: An exploratory study in Romania. *Management & Marketing Journal*, *14*(2), 1-16. http://mnmk.ro/documents/2016\_02/11.pdf
- Oladele, P. O., & Akeke, N. I. (2016). Effect of strategic leadership styles on sales and employment growth in small and medium enterprises in Nigeria. *International Journal of Information, Business, and Management*, 8(2), 1-18. http://www.ijibm.elitehall.com
- Olawale, F., & Garwe, D. (2015). Obstacles to the growth of new SMEs in South Africa:

  A principal component analysis approach. *African Journal of Business*Management, 4(5), 729-738. http://www.academicjournals.org/AJBM
- O'Leary, Z. (2014). *The essential guide to doing your research project* (3rd ed.). Sage Publications, Inc.

- Oltmann, S. M. (2016). Qualitative interviews: A methodological discussion of the interviewer and respondent contexts. *Forum Qualitative Sozialforschung / Forum: Qualitative Social Research*, 17(2). http://www.qualitative-research.net/
- Palinkas, L. A., Horwitz, S. M., Green, C. A., Wisdom, J. P., Duan, N., & Hoagwood, K. (2015). Purposeful sampling for qualitative data collection and analysis in mixed methods implementation research. *Administration and Policy in Mental Health and Mental Health Services Research*, 42(5), 533-544.
  https://doi.org/10.1007/s10488-013-0528-y
- Parida, V., & Wincent, J. (2019). Why and how to compete through sustainability: A review and outline of trends influencing firm and network-level transformation. *International Entrepreneurship and Management Journal*, 15(1), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11365-019-00558-9
- Pyngavil, R. S. (2015). Leadership dimensions & organizational commitment in small scale enterprises in Delhi. *The Indian Journal of Industrial Relations*, *50* (3), 479-493. https://www.publishingindia.com
- Rauter, R., Globocnik, D., Perl-Vorbach, E., & Baumgartner, R. J. (2019). Open innovation and its effects on economic and sustainability innovation performance. *Journal of Innovation & Knowledge*, 4(5), 226-233. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jik.2018.03.004
- Raza, J., & Majid, A. (2016). Perceptions and practices of corporate social responsibility among SMEs in Pakistan. *Quality & Quantity*, *50*(6), 2625-2650. https://doi.org/10.1007/s11135-015-0281-2

- Raziq, A., & Wiesner, R. (2016). High performance management practices and sustainability of SMEs. Evidence from manufacturing and services-based industries in Pakistan. *Journal of Management Sciences*, *3*(2), 83-107. https://doi.org/10.20547/jms.2014.1603201
- Robinson, B. M., & Jonker, J. A. (2017). Inculcating ethics in small and medium-sized business enterprises: A South African leadership perspective. *African Journal of Business Ethics*, 11(1), 1-19. https://doi.org/10.15249/11-1-132
- Robinson, O. C. (2014). Sampling in interview-based qualitative research: A theoretical and practical guide. *Qualitative Research in Psychology*, 11(1), 25-41. https://doi:10.1080/14780887.2013.801543
- Rose, E., & Mamabolo, A. (2019). Transformational leadership as an antecedent and SME performance as a consequence of entrepreneurial orientation in an emerging market context. *International Journal of Entrepreneurship*, 23(4), 1-13. https://www.abacademies.org/articles/transformational-leadership-as-an-antecedent-and-sme-performance-as-a-consequence-of-entrepreneurial-orientation-in-an-emerging-ma-8776.html
- Sackmann, S. A., Eggenhofer-Rehart, P. M., & Friesl, M. (2015). Sustainable change:

  Long-term efforts toward developing a learning organization. *The Journal of Applied Behavioral Science*, *45*(4), 521-549.

  https://doi.org/10.1177/0021886309346001
- Samuel, S., Rachel M., Isa N. (2015). Leadership traits and business sustainability in Ugandan SMEs: A qualitative analysis. *International Journal of Management*

- Science and Business Administration, 1(6), 42-57. http://researchleap.com/category/international-journal-of-management-science-
- Sancho, M. P. L., Martínez-Martínez, D., Jorge, M. L., & Madueño, J. H. (2018).

  Understanding the link between socially responsible human resource management and competitive performance in SMEs. *Personnel Review*, *47*(6), 1211-1243.

  https://doi.org/10.1108/PR-05-2017-0165

and-business-administration

- Saunders, M., & Townsend, K. (2018). Choosing participants. *In the sage handbook of qualitative business and management research methods*. SAGE Publications. https://www.doi.org/10.4135/9781526430212
- Saunders, M. N. K., Lewis, P., & Thornhill, A. (2015). *Research methods for business students* (7th ed.). Pearson Education Limited.
- Schaltegger, S., Hansen, E. G., & Lüdeke-Freund, F. (2016). Business models for sustainability: Origins, present research, and future avenues. *Organization & Environment*, 29(1), 3-10. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026615599806
- Schaltegger, S., Hörisch, J., & Freeman, R. E. (2017). Business cases for sustainability: A stakeholder theory perspective. *Organization & Environment*, *32*(3), 191-212. https://doi.org/10.1177/1086026617722882
- Schreier, M. (2018). Sampling and generalization. The Sage handbook of qualitative data collection. Sage Publications.

- Scott, I. (2016). Antitrust and socially responsible collaboration: A chilling combination. *American Business Law Journal*, *53*(1), 97-144. https://doi.org/10.1111/ablj.12073
- Seay, S. S. (2015). Sustainability is applied ethics. *Journal of Legal, Ethical, and*\*Regulatory Issues, 18, 63-70. http://www.alliedacademies.org/legal-ethical-and-regulatory-issues/
- Shields, J., & Shelleman, J. (2015). Integrating Sustainability into SME Strategy. *Journal of Small Business Strategy*, 25(2), 59-78.

  https://libjournals.mtsu.edu/index.php/jsbs/article/view/561
- Shrestha, M. B., & Bhatta, G. R. (2018). Selecting appropriate methodological framework for time series data analysis. *The Journal of Finance and Data Science*, 4(2), 71-89. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jfds.2017.11.001
- Sikalieh, D., Linge, T. K., & Asiimwe, J. B. (2016). The relationship between transformational leadership style and SMEs growth in the top 100 SMEs in Kenya. *The International Journal of Business & Management*, *4*(6), 85-89. http://erepo.usiu.ac.ke/11732/2570
- Singh, M. (2016). Impact of transformational and transactional leadership style on organization performance of SMES. *Zenith International Journal of Business Economics & Management Research*, 6(7), 73-89.

  http://www.indianjournals.com/ijor.aspx?target=ijor:zijbemr&volume=6&issue=7&article=007

- Snyder, K., Ingelsson, P., & Bäckström, I. (2018). Using design thinking to support value-based leadership for sustainable quality development. *Business Process Management Journal*, 24(6), 1289-1301. https://doi.org/10.1108/bpmj-02-2018-0045
- Soto-Acosta, P., Cismaru, D. M., Vătămănescu, E. M., & Ciochină, R. S. (2016).

  Sustainable entrepreneurship in SMEs: A business performance

  perspective. *Sustainability*, 8(4), 342-357. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8040342
- Sridhar, P. (2020). The contribution of small and medium enterprises to the economy of Swaziland: A case study of Manzini City. *Indian Journal of Commerce and Management Studies*, 11(1), 12-19. https://doi.org/10.18843/ijcms/v11i1/02
- Sulaeman, A., Tisnawatisule, E., Hilmiana, H., & Cahyandito, M. F. (2019). Determining SMEs' business sustainability: Human resources management for sustainability approach. *International Conference on Economics, Business, Entrepreneurship, and Finance*, 65(5), 764-768. https://doi.org/10.2991/icebef-18.2019.160
- Sulieman, A. (2018). Transformational leadership style and its relationship with change management. *Business Theory & Practice*, 19(4), 17-24. https://doi.org/10.3846/btp.2018.03
- Suriyankietkaew, S., & Avery, G. (2016). Sustainable leadership practices driving financial performance: Empirical evidence from Thai SMEs. *Sustainability*, 8(4) 3-27. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8040327

- Sutton, J., & Austin, Z. (2015). Qualitative research: Data collection, analysis, and management. *The Canadian Journal of Hospital Pharmacy*, 68(3), 226-231. https://www.cjhp-online.ca
- Szczepańska-Woszczyna, K., & Kurowska-Pysz, J. (2016). Sustainable business development through leadership in SMEs. *Engineering Management in Production and Services*, 8(3), 57-69. https://doi.org/10.1515/emj-2016-0024
- Tajasom, A., Hung, D. K. M., Nikbin, D., & Hyun, S. S. (2015). The role of transformational leadership in innovation performance of Malaysian SMEs. *Asian Journal of Technology Innovation*, 23(2), 172-188. https://doi.org/10.1080/19761597.2015.1074513
- Tantalo, C., & Priem, R. L. (2016). Value creation through stakeholder synergy. *Strategic Management Journal*, *37*(3), 314-329. https://doi.org/10.1002/smj.2337
- Tehseen, S., & Ramayah, T. (2015). Entrepreneurial competencies and SMEs business success: The contingent role of external integration. *Mediterranean Journal of Social Sciences*, 6(1), 50-61. https://doi.org/10.5901/mjss.2015.v6n1p50-61
- Triguero, A., Moreno-Mondéjar, L., & Davia, M. A. (2016). Leaders and laggards in environmental innovation: An empirical analysis of SMEs in Europe. *Business Strategy and the Environment*, 25(1), 28-39. https://doi.org/10.1002/bse.1854
- Tuan, V. K., & Rajagopal, P. (2019). The effect of transformational leadership style on employee job satisfaction towards small and medium-sized enterprises (SMEs) in Ho Chi Minh City, Vietnam. *Academic Journal of Economic Studies*, 5(4), 156-164. https://doi.org/10.2991/aebmr.k.200131.051

- Uchehara, C. C. (2017). Ex-raying operations of small medium scale enterprises (SMEs) in Nigeria business environment: The challenges. *European Journal of Economic and Financial Research*, 2(1), 1-20. https://doi.org/10.5281/zenodo.255799
- U.S. Department of Health & Human Services. (1979). *The Belmont report: Ethical principles and guidelines for the protection of human subjects' research*. https://www.hhs.gov/ohrp/humansubjects/guidance/belmont.html
- Weller, S. C., Vickers, B., Bernard, H. R., Blackburn, A. M., Borgatti, S., Gravlee, C. C., & Johnson, J. C. (2018). Open-ended interview questions and saturation. *Plos One*, 13(6), 1-18. https://doi:10.1371/journal.pone.0198606
- Widianto, S., & Harsanto, B. (2017). The impact of transformational leadership and organizational culture on firm performance in Indonesia SMEs. *The Palgrave Handbook of Leadership in Transforming Asia*. https://doi.org/10.1057/978-1-137-57940-9 27
- Williams, A., Kennedy, S., Philipp, F., & Whiteman, G. (2017). Systems thinking: A review of sustainability management research. *Journal of Cleaner Production*, 14(8), 866-881. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.jclepro.2017.02.002
- World Bank. (2015). *Small and medium enterprises (SMEs) finance*. http://www.worldbank.org
- World Bank. (2016). *Doing business 2016*. https://www.doingbusiness.org
- World Health Organization. (2015). United Nations development assistance framework UNDAF 2011-2015: Action plan.
  - $http://202.1.196.69/jspui/bitstream/123456789/1849/1/UNDAF\_Action\_Plan.pdf$

- Woschke, T., Haase, H., & Kratzer, J. (2017). Resource scarcity in SMEs: Effects on incremental and radical innovations. *Management Research Review*, 40(2), 195-217. https://doi.org/10.1108/MRR-10-2015-0239
- Yadav, N., Gupta, K., Rani, L., & Rawat, D. (2018). Drivers of sustainability practices and SMEs: A systematic literature review. *European Journal of Sustainable Development*, 7(4), 531-544. https://doi.org/10.14207/ejsd.2018.v7n4p531
- Ybema, S., & Horvers, M. (2017). Resistance through compliance: The strategic and subversive potential of frontstage and backstage resistance. *Organization Studies*, *38*(9), 1233-1251. https://doi.org/10.1177/0170840617709305
- Yin, R. K. (2016). *Qualitative research from start to finish* (2nd ed.). Guilford Press.
- Yin, R. K. (2018). *Case study research and applications: Design and methods* (6th ed.). Sage Publications.
- Yoon, B., Shin, J., & Lee, S. (2016). Open innovation projects in SMEs as an engine for sustainable growth. *Sustainability*, 8(2), 46-73. https://doi.org/10.3390/su8020146
- Yue, C. A., Men, L. R., & Ferguson, M. A. (2019). Bridging transformational leadership, transparent communication, and employee openness to change: The mediating role of trust. *Public Relations Review*, 45(3), 10-17. https://doi.org/10.1016/j.pubrev.2019.04.012

#### Appendix A: Letter of Invitation

July 6, 2021

#### **Letter of Invitation**

Dear Sir/Madam.

As part of my doctoral research at Walden University, I would like to invite you to participate in a research study I am conducting to explore the leadership strategies for the sustainability of Small and Medium Enterprises (SMEs) in Swaziland. The findings of this study may help owners of SMEs to identify leadership strategies needed for enhancing performance and business sustainability. The participants for this study shall be owners of SMEs who have been in operation for a period not less than 5 years. The participants will also be owners of SMEs with significant success in the sustainability of their firm.

The mode of data collection shall be via zoom interviews of approximately 45 minutes duration, and provision of non-confidential documentation relating to the subject of leadership strategies by email. The zoom interview will be voice recorded. All data collected will be treated as confidential, and your participation in the study is voluntary. Immediately after I complete the interview transcription, I will ask you to verify that I correctly transcribed the interview. I will send you the transcript electronically via email and request a response within 3 days if revisions are needed.

Enclosed with this letter is the Participant Consent Form. If you are interested in participating in the study, kindly review the form carefully and send an email with the words "I consent".

Your participation will not only contribute to the success of the proposed study but may help stimulate interest among SME owners in Swaziland and appropriate leadership strategies needed for business sustainability.

Sincerely,

Lizzy Taiwo

## Appendix B: Interview Protocol

- 1. I will greet the participant and reintroduce myself.
- 2. I will then go over the consent form to make sure the participant has read over it and know their rights as a participant.
- 3. I will ensure the participant is ready and will begin audiotaping the interview, acknowledging the pseudonym given to the participant as well as the time and environment.
- 4. I will begin asking the participant the nine interview questions, giving them time to answer and ask any follow-up questions.
- 5. Once the interview is completed, I will set up a time for transcript review and conduct member checking of interpreted data.
- 6. After the member checking has been conducted and confirmed by participants, I will let the participant know that their time was appreciated.

## Appendix C: Interview Questions

- 1. What specific leadership strategies are you using to manage your organization?
- 2. How do you implement these strategies?
- 3. How did you assess the effectiveness of these strategies?
- 4. Which of these leadership strategies has been the most effective in the sustainability of your business?
- 5. What were the key challenges you faced as a business leader while implementing these leadership strategies?
- 6. How did you overcome these key challenges?
- 7. What other business strategies do you use to sustain your business services and products?
- 8. What strategies do you use to motivate employees to achieve organizational goals?
- 9. What other information would you like to share about your leadership strategies that, based upon your experience, have influenced the sustainability of your business?

# Appendix D: CITI Certification

 $\underline{citiprogram.org/verify/?wbd4cf205-cacc-4394-ac35-785d60ce64f8-42439551}$